

Genes Involved in Phaseolus Embryogenesis

Souleymane Silué¹ • Jean-Marie Jacquemin² • Jean-Pierre Baudoin^{1*}

¹ Faculté Universitaire des Sciences Agronomiques de Gembloux, Unité de Phytotechnie Tropicale et d'Horticulture. 2, Passage des Déportés, BE-5030 Gembloux, Belgium ² Centre Wallon de Recherches Agronomiques, Département de Biotechnologie Chaussée de Charleroi, 234 BE-5030 Gembloux, Belgium

Corresponding author: * baudoin.j@fsagx.ac.be

ABSTRACT

Within the genus *Phaseolus*, the common bean, *Phaseolus vulgaris* L., is the most important species widely distributed in the world and occupies more than 90% of production areas sown to *Phaseolus* species. Interspecific hybridization in the genus *Phaseolus*, with the aim to introgress desired traits to the common bean, leads to the abortion of immature embryos usually at the globular or early heart-shaped developmental stages. Plant zygotic embryogenesis is controlled by many genes and malfunction of these genes can disrupt embryo formation. In this paper, we reviewed some of these genes i.e. *KNOX*, *BELL1*, *LEUCINE ZIPPER*, *PHD-FINGER*, *GLABRA2*, *WUSHEL*, *HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN*, *LIPID TRANSFER PROTEIN*, *PASTICCINO*, *LEAFY COTYLEDON* and *TITAN*, from model plants such as *Arabidopsis thaliana*, *Zea mays*, *Oryza sativa*, *Medicago truncatula*, *Solanum lycopersicum*. This study helps us to identify the genes involved in *Phaseolus* embryogenesis and to verify their expression in ovules at different steps of embryos development.

Keywords: common bean, embryo abortion, embryo development, genes, model plants

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
PLANT EMBRYOGENESIS AND GENE EXPRESSION	
HOMEOBOX GENES	
KNOX genes	
BELLI (BEL) genes	
LEUCINE ZIPPER (HD-ZIP) genes	
PHD-FINGER genes	
GLABRA2 (HD-GL2) genes	
WUSHEL (WUS) protein	
HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN GENES	185
LIPID TRANSFER PROTEIN GENES	
PASTICCINO (PAS) GENES	
LEAFY COTYLEDON (LEC) GENES	186
TITAN (TTN) GENES	
CONCLUSION AND PROSPECTS	188
REFERENCES	188

INTRODUCTION

The common bean, Phaseolus vulgaris L., is the most important species widely distributed in the world and occupies more than 90% of production areas sown to *Phaseolus* species (Baudoin *et al.* 2001). Its dry seeds are a major component in the diet of human populations in Latin America, as well in Central and East Africa. Legumes usefully complement cereal seeds in the nutritional value of daily diet, mainly because of their protein and amino acid contents. P. vulgaris is adapted to several cropping systems, particularly in association with other food crops like maize, sorghum or pearl millet. In tropical regions, the common bean is characterized by low and unstable seed yield. This is mainly due to the susceptibility of this crop to numerous pests and diseases: more than 200 pathogens have been reported attacking beans, some of them causing considerable economic losses (Graham and Ranalli 1997; Singh 1999). Another constraint limiting yield is the lack of improved varieties tolerant to abiotic stresses (poor soil, high temperature, drought, etc.). Agronomists and breeders have not found

sufficient genetic variability within the primary gene pool of P. vulgaris. However, the alien gene pools offer very good breeding potentialities (Debouck and Smartt 1995; Debouck 1999; Baudoin 2001; Broughton *et al.* 2003). This is particularly the case of the two species P. coccineus L. and *P. polyanthus* Greenm., which show interesting traits not, or only poorly, expressed in the primary gene pool of *P*. vulgaris, such as resistance to two diseases Ascochyta blight and Bean Golden Yellow Mosaic Virus (BGYMV). Ascochyta blight is caused by Phoma exigua Desmaz. var. diversispora (Bubak) Boerema and prevails in highland areas. The symptoms include black or brown concentric lesions on leaves and pods, as well as collapsed and black nodes, petioles, and stems (Schwartz *et al.* 1981; Hanson *et al.* 1993). BGYMV is economically important in Latin America, and is caused by a geminivirus transmitted by whiteflies of the genus Bemisia. Disease symptoms include intense yellowing, mosaic, stunting, and distortion of leaves and pods (Markham et al. 1994; Bracero et al. 2003). The extensive genetic variability of the pathogens requires the constant development of new resistant cultivars in common

bean. Breeders take benefit of the interspecific hybridizations between the recurrent species, *P. vulgaris*, and the two donor species: *P. coccineus* and *P. polyanthus*, belonging to the secondary gene pool of the common bean. Indeed, different sources of resistance to these two diseases have been identified among these two donor species (Hanson *et al.* 1993; Bianchini 1999; Beaver *et al.* 2005). In addition, other desired traits can be found from these two taxa, such as cold tolerance, long multi-nodded inflorescences, and thick stems (Camarena 1988; Schmit and Baudoin 1992; Baudoin *et al.* 2001).

In the interspecific hybridizations between P. vulgaris and the two donor species, the use of P. vulgaris as a female parent increases the percentage of successful hybrids but, unfortunately, the presence of P. vulgaris cytoplasm provokes a quick reversal to the recurrent species, at the expense of the donor species (Baudoin 2001). Reciprocal crosses, a condition favouring the introgression of desired genes to the common bean, avoid the reversal process showed above, but are more difficult to succeed. Indeed, theses crosses lead to abortion of immature embryos, usually at the globular or early heart-shaped developmental stages, with most embryos aborting 3-8 days after pollination, 79% for the crosses P. polyanthus \times P. vulgaris and 84% for the crosses P. coccineus \times P. vulgaris during trials conducted under greenhouse in Gembloux Agricultural University (Baudoin et al. 2004). Early interspecific embryo abortion is attributed to several factors such as nutritional barriers related to a deficient endosperm or suspensor development, endothelium proliferation and, in some extent, hypertrophy of the vascular elements (Lecomte 1997; Geerts 2001; Toussaint et al. 2004). Plant zygotic embryogenesis is controlled by many genes and their malfunction can disrupt interspecific embryos formation. Transcripts of these genes can be localized in the embryo proper, in endosperm or in maternal tissues around the embryo (Raghavan 1997).

In this paper, we review some of these genes involved in model plants embryogenesis, such as KNOX, BELL1 (BEL), LEUCINE ZIPPER (HD-ZIP), PHD-FINGER, GLABRA2 (HD-GL2), WUSHEL (WUS), HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN (HSP), LIPID TRANSFER PROTEIN (LTP), PASTICCINO (PAS), LEAFY COTYLEDON (LEC) and TITAN (TTN) genes. Alignment and comparison of the sequences from different species help us to design DNA primers targeting conserved domains of these genes, to isolate related genomic sequences from Phaseolus by PCR, and to verify the expression of these genes at different steps of Phaseolus embryos development.

PLANT EMBRYOGENESIS AND GENE EXPRESSION

Fertilization and embryogenesis are the first stages in the development of new life in both animals and plants. In early dicot embryogenesis, cell division occurs regularly. The first transverse division is asymmetric, which gives rise to one smaller apical cell and one larger basal cell. The smaller apical cell will form most of the embryo proper, and the larger basal cell will develop into the suspensor. The suspensor anchors the embryo to the endosperm and serves as a conduit for nutrients and growth factors for the developing embryo. The smaller apical cell (the embryo proper) divides longitudinally twice and transversely once, and results in an eight-cell embryo (Goldberg et al. 1994; Laux and Jürgens 1997; Rademacher and Weijers 2007). Early embryogenesis in monocots differs from that of dicots mainly in the two following ways: first, cell division occurs randomly; and second, the protodermal cell layer is not morphologically formed until the embryo size reaches more than 100 mm in length (more than 200 cells). This means that the period leading up to organ differentiation, including protoderm differentiation, is much longer than that in dicots. Further cell divisions lead to the globular stage. The three basic tissue systems (dermal, ground, and vascular) can be recognized at this point based on characteristic cell division

patterns. The globular shape of the embryo is then lost as the cotyledons (embryonic leaves) begin to form. The formation of two cotyledons in dicots gives the embryo a heart-shaped appearance, while in monocots only a single cotyledon forms. Upright cotyledons can give the embryo a torpedo shape, and at this time the suspensor is degenerating while the shoot apical meristem and root apical meristem (SAM and RAM) are established. At this stage, embryogenesis is arrested, the mature seed dessicates and remains dormant until germination. The meristems will give rise to the adult structures of the plant upon germination (Steeves and Sussex 1989; Harada 1997; Laux and Jürgens 1997; Weijers and Jürgens 2005).

In higher plants the embryo passes through four developmental stages after fertilization (Umehara et al. 2007). The globular stage is the pattern formation, in which the axis of the plant body is defined, tissue layers organized, and earliest organs established. The heart stage is the cell diversification and specification phase, in which cell types such as the suspensor, provascular tissue, shoot and root meristems are defined. The torpedo stage is growth and morphogenesis, in which cells become expanded. During the last process, the embryo enters into maturation, in which cell division is completed, embryo storage reserves as proteins, starch, and lipids accumulate and the embryo acquires dormancy and desiccation. The first three stages occur concurrently in the developing embryo and are also known as early embryogenesis, while maturation is a distinct process that begins later in embryogenesis (West and Harada 1993; Harada 1997; Berleth and Chatfield 2002). The plant body is the basis of the future plant, controls the three next phases and consists of two superimposed patterns: apicalbasal pattern along the main axis of the plant, and radial pattern of concentrically arranged tissue systems.

Seed development in higher plants such as Arabidopsis requires coordinated differentiation of the embryo proper, suspensor, endosperm tissue, and seed coat. Plant embryos are morphologically simple, but molecularly complex. Many genes must be expressed as the zygote divides in a regulated manner, completes morphogenesis, and differentiates into a mature embryo capable of surviving desiccation and producing a viable plant (McElver et al. 2001). Interactions between these components have been explored in part through the analysis of embryo-defective mutants in Arabidopsis (Meinke 1995). These recessive mutants have been recovered either by screening immature siliques for abnormal seeds (Meinke 1994) or by screening at the seedling stage for defects indicative of a disruption of normal embryogenesis (Jürgens et al. 1994) or through forward genetic screens of T-DNA insertion lines (McElver et al. 2001). These genes show temporal as well as spatial patterns of gene expression during seed development. The stage-specific cDNAs have been used as markers of cell differentiation and to follow the normal development of the embryos (Jo-fuku and Goldberg 1989; Elster *et al.* 2000; Bommert and Werr 2001). Gene products identified to date include a wide array of metabolic enzymes (Lukowitz et al. 2001), transcription factors (Lotan et al. 1998), chloroplast and mitochondrial proteins (Apuya et al. 2001), and proteins re-quired for vesicle trafficking (Rojo et al. 2001). From the frequency at which embryo-lethal mutants appear in Arabi*dopsis*, many genes are required for normal embryogenesis; however, only ten percent of them affect pattern formation in embryogenesis. A vast number of genes represented by embryo-lethal mutants may be required for normal embryogenesis, but they may not be master regulators of the process (Howell 1998). However Franzmann et al. (1995) and McElver et al. (2001) identified and analyzed a large number of embryo-lethal mutants in Arabidopsis. They estimated that 750 genes can be easily mutated to give an embryo lethal phenotype. On the other side, Tzafrir et al. (2004) showed that 250 genes control distinct phenotypes and are essential to have a normal phenotype during Arabi*dopsis* seed development.

In the next sections, some of these genes involved in

plant embryogenesis are discussed. Focus is made on their characteristics, roles and expression patterns during plant embryogenesis, as well on their relationships.

HOMEOBOX GENES

Homeotic genes are important regulatory genes in the speciation of cell fate and body plan at the early stage of embryogenesis in higher organisms (Gehring and Hiromi 1986; Yang *et al.* 2002). Initially identified in *Drosophilia* (McGinnis *et al.* 1984) as a single gene mutation capable of altering the identity of complex morphological structures, homeotic genes have been isolated and characterized from a wide range of animal and plant species (Chasan 1992; Gehring 1992). A common feature of many homeotic genes of both plants and animals is a conserved nucleotide sequence known as the homeobox which encodes the homeodomain (HD). The HD consists of an approximately 60 amino acids with a helix-turn-helix structure conferring a specific DNA binding function (Kissinger *et al.* 1990).

Plant homeoboxes were discovered at the beginning of the nineties, and the first family of homeobox genes reported in plant species was KNOX (KNOTTED1-like homeobox), isolated from maize, which is involved in leaf development (Vollbercht et al. 1991). Subsequent to the cloning of the KN1 gene from maize, using library screening with previously identified gene or degenerate olinucleotides deduced from HDs as probes or primers, differential screening, mutant based cloning, etc., many plant homeobox genes have been isolated from various plant species: Arabidopsis (Carabelli et al. 1993; Söderman et al. 1999; Western and Haughn 1999; Hanson et al. 2001; Johannesson et al. 2001), parsley (Korfhage et al. 1994), rice (Sato et al. 1996; Sato et al. 1998; Postma-Haarsma et al. 1999; Sentoku et al. 1999; Ito *et al.* 2002; Yang *et al.* 2002), apple (Watillon *et al.* 1997; Dong *et al.* 2000), wheat (Takumi *et al.* 2000), soybean (Ma *et al.* 1994; Moon *et al.* 1996), tomato (Tornero et al. 1996), tobacco (Nishimura et al. 1999, 2000), Norway spruce (Sundas-Larsson et al. 1998; Hjortswang et al. 2002; Ingouff et al. 2003), Phaleonopsis (Nadeau et al. 1996).

Based on amino acid sequence similarities within the homeodomain and the presence of additional distinctive domains outside the HD, plant homeobox genes can be grouped into several families (Chan et al. 1998; Ito et al. 2002a): the homeodomain LEUCINE ZIPPER (HD-ZIP) family characterized by a leucine zipper dimerization motif adjacent to the homeodomain (Söderman et al. 1999; Tang et al. 2001), the plant homeodomain FINGER (PHD-FIN-GER) family distinguished by a conserved cysteine-rich motif (Überlacker et al. 1996; Yang et al. 2003), the family of Arabidopsis GLABRA2-like (HD-GL2, known as HD-ZIP IV) proteins (Lu et al. 1996; Ito et al. 2002b), the family of maize KNOX proteins (Vollbercht et al. 1991; Bowman and Eshed 2000), the family of BELL1 (BEL) HD protein (Dong et al. 2000; Becker et al. 2002), and the family of WUSHEL (WUS) HD protein (Brand et al. 2002; Haecker et al. 2004). Within each family, several defined groups can be distinguished, each comprising proteins from different species (including monocot and dicot)

The involvement of homeobox genes in plant embryogenesis has been reported in several studies (Schena and Davis 1992; Ma *et al.* 1994; Sato *et al.* 1996; Ito *et al.* 2002a, 2002b; Haecker *et al.* 2004). In order to follow the normal development of the embryo proper, such genes are often used as molecular markers to study their cellular expression pattern during embryogenesis in wild-type and mutant embryos, using different techniques such as *in situ* hybridization, cDNA libraries screening, southern and northern blots analysis, RT-PCR reactions. Plant homeobox genes, by analogy of the functional roles of animal homeobox genes, have been expected to encode transcriptional regulators that mediate important developmental processes during embryogenesis (Sato *et al.* 1998; Dong *et al.* 2000; Elster *et al.* 2000; Bommert and Werr 2001; Yang *et al.* 2002).

KNOX genes

As specified above, KNOX genes have been the first homeobox gene family identified in plant species and is the most extensively characterized gene family. These genes have been shown to be involved in meristem formation and maintenance in maize, rice and barley among the monocots (Kerstetter et al. 1997; Bowman and Eshed 2000). Studies revealed that the shoot apical meristem (SAM) is formed during embryogenesis, and after seed germination it continuously generates various organs and tissues, such as leaves, stems and flowers, throughout plant life (Steeves and Sussex 1989; Vollbrecht et al. 2000; Hake et al. 2004; Belles-Boix et al. 2006). Based on comparative analysis of the KNOX HD, this family has been subdivided into class 1 and class 2 which are 73-89% and 55-58% identical to maize KN1 respectively. Fig. 1 shows the alignment of deduced amino acid sequences of KNOX genes from maize (Voll-brecht et al. 1991), pea (Hofer et al. 2001), rice (Matsuoka et al. 1993), Medicago truncatula (Koltai et al. 2001), soybean (Ma et al. 1994) and Arabidopsis thaliana (Lincoln et al. 1994). The class I genes studied are mainly expressed in the SAM but not in lateral primordia, and some loss-offunction mutations affect meristem formation and/or maintenance. Two locations of expression patterns of the class 1 genes in the SAM have been identified: at the center of the meristem dome and at the base of leaf primordia (Reiser et al. 2000). Furthermore, all class 1 genes analyzed caused dramatic alteration of leaf morphology when ectopically expressed (Hake et al. 1995; Long et al. 1996). These results indicate that the class 1 genes play important roles in SAM. In contrast, the class 2 genes studied show more diverse expressions and are found not only in the SAM but also in differentiated organs such as roots, leaves and flowers. Ectopic expression of class 2 genes does not cause altered morphology (Serikawa et al. 1996, 1997; Sentoku et al. 1998)

The first plant homeobox gene shown to be involved in embryogenesis was SHOOT MERISTEMLESS (STM) isolated from Arabidopsis thaliana (Long et al. 1996; Groß-Hardt and Laux 2003). Embryos of stm mutants lack the capacity to form a shoot meristem, whereas other embryonic organs, for example cotyledons, hypocotyl and radicle, develop normally. STM belongs to class 1 of the KNOX gene familly and is expressed in the SAM during embryogenesis (Tsiantis and Hay 2003; Hay et al. 2004; Belles-Boix et al. 2006). The KNOX gene SOYBEAN HOMEOBOXI (SBH1) is expressed during soybean somatic embryogenesis (Ma et al. 1994). The deduced SBH1 protein shares a high amino acid identity with maize KNI protein (47.00% overall and 87.50% for the homeodomain). The expression of SBHI is development- and tissue-specific. The transcript of SBH1 was present in early-stage somatic embryos, increased prior to cotyledon formation and decreased thereafter. SBH1 was weakly expressed in soybean stems and hypocotyls but was not detected in other plant tissues and nonembryogenic materials. In rice, members of the KNOX gene family are differentially expressed during embryogenesis. Sato et al. (1996) examined the spatial and temporal expression patterns of rice homeobox gene, OSH1, during rice embryogenesis. They showed that OSH1 expression was first detected in a specific ventral region of globular embryo. This indicates that the cellular differentiation at the gene expression level has already occurred at this stage and it is plausible that OSH1 may play an important role in the cellular differentiation preceeding organ formation. Considering the possibility that the putative in vivo function of OSHI is a trans-acting factor, OSH1 may function as a regulator switching on and off the developmental program of embryonic cells located in a specific region. With the advancement of embryonic maturation, the expression level of OSH1 is reduced. The down-regulation of OSH1 expression at later stages suggests that its primary function resides in the early embryogenesis. This result also suggests a possibility that the main function of OSH1 in embryo is to establish cellular identity in the ventral region at the globular stage. Once the

M_trunc P_sat G_max O_sat 2_mays A_thal	: NSTNNNNNHYTNCNNNTSSIMLQNNHQNTPGTGYYFMDNINNHGSSSSSSSSSSSVKSKIMAHPHYHRI: : NSTNNNN-HYTNNNNSNNTMLQNNHHTTQNTPGTGYYFMDNHNNNGASSSSSSSAVKAKIMAHPHYHRI: : NSTGTPSIMLHNNHNNNKTDDDDNNNNTGTGYYFMESDHHHHHHGNNNNNGSSSSSSSSAVKAKIMAHPHYHRI: : LTLNTAAAAVGNPVLQLANGSLLDACGKAKEASASAS-YAPDVEAIKAKIISHPHYSSL: : LTLNTVAATGNSGGSGNPVLQLANGGCLLDACVKAKEPSSSSP-YAGDVEAIKAKIISHPHYSL: : QTTENCFRSDHDQPNNNNNPSVKSEASSSRINHYSMIMRAIHNTQEANNNNNDNVSDVEAKKIIAHPHYSTL:	137 127 137 117 117 147
M_trunc P_sat G_max O_sat Z_mays A_thal	: LEAYINCOKVGAESEVVARLEEACATAVRMGGDAVGSGCLGEDPALDQFMEAYCEMLIKYEQELSKPLKEAMLFLORIE : : LEAYINCOKVGAESEVVIRLEEACASAVRMGGDAVGSGCIGEDPALDQFMEAYCEMLIKYEQELSKPLKEAMLFLORIE : : LAAYUNCOKVGAEPEVVARLEEACASAATMAGGDAAAGSSCIGEDPALDQFMEAYCEMLTKYEQELSKPLKEAMLFLORIE : : LAAYLDCOKVGAEPEVVARLEEACASAATMAGGDAAAGSSCIGEDPALDQFMEAYCEMLTKYEQELSKPLKEAMLFLORIE : : LAAYLDCOKVGAEPEVAARLT-AVAQDLELR-QRTALCVLGAATEPELDQFMEAYHEMLVKYREELTRPLQEAMEFLRRVE : : LTAYLECNKVGAEPEVSARLT-EIAQEVEAR-QRTALCGLAAATEPELDQFMEAYHEMLVKYREELTRPLQEAMEFMRRVE : : LQAYLDCOKIGAEPEVSARLT-AARQDFEARQQRSTPSVSASSRDPELDQFMEAYCDMLVKYREELTRPLQEAMEFIRRIE : KNOX Domain	216 206 218 196 196 227
M_trunc P_sat G_max O_sat Z_mays A_thal	: VOFKNLTVSSSSDNIACSEGGDRNGSSEEDHVDLYNNMIDPQAEDRELKGQLLRKYSGYLGSLKQEFMKKRKKGKL : VOFKNLTVSSSSDNIACNEGGDRNGSSEEDVVDLYNNMIDPQAEDRELKGQLLRKYSGYLGSLKQEFMKKRKKGKL : COFKNLTISSSDFASNEGGDRNGSSEED-VDLHNMIDPQAEDRDLKGQLLRKYSGYLGSLKQEFMKKRKKGKL : TQLNTLSISGRSLRNILSSGSSEEDQEG-SGGETELPEIDAHGVDQELKHHLLKKYSGYLSSLKQELSKKKKKGKL : SQLNSLSISGRSLRNILSSGSSEEDQEG-SGGETELPEVDAHGVDQELKHHLLKKYSGYLSSLKQELSKKKKKGKL : SQLSMLCQSPIHILNNPDGKSDNMGSSDEEQENNSGGETELPEIDPRAEDRELKNHLLKKYSGYLSSLKQELSKKKKKGKL : ELK Domain	292 282 290 271 271 308
M_trunc P_sat G_max O_sat Z_mays A_thal	: PKEARQQLLEMMSRHYKWPYPSESQKLALAESTGLDOKQINNWFINQRKRHWKPSEDMOFVVMDPSHPHYYMDNVLTNSYP : PKEARQQLLEMWSRHYKWPYPSESQKLALAESTGLDOKQINNWFINQRKRHWKPSEDMOFVVMDPTHPHYYMDNVLGNSPP : PKEARQQLLEMWNRHYKWPYPSESQKLALAESTGLDOKQINNWFINQRKRHWKPSEDMOFVVMDPSHPHYYMDNVLGNPFP : PKDARQQLLSMMDEHYKWPYPSESQKVALAESTGLDLKQINNWFINQRKRHWKPSBEMOFVMMDGYHPTNAAAFYMDGHEI : PKEARQQLLSMMDCHYKWPYPSETQKVALAESTGLDLKQINNWFINQRKRHWKPSEBMHHLMMDGYHTTN-AFYMDGHEI : PKEARQKLLTWWELHYKWPYPSESEKVALAESTGLDQKQINNWFINQRKRHWKPSEBMHHLMMDGYHPTNAAAFYMDGHEI : PKEARQKLLTWWELHYKWPYPSESEKVALAESTGLDQKQINNWFINQRKRHWKPSEBMHHLMMDGYHPTNAAAFYMDGHEI : PKEARQKLLTWWELHYKWPYPSESEKVALAESTGLDQKQINNWFINQRKRHWKPSEBMHHHAMDGYDGLQHPHHAALYMDGHYM :	373 363 371 352 350 389
M_trunc P_sat G_max O_sat 2_mays A_thal	: MDLSNTML~~ : 381 : MDLSNTML~~ : 371 : MDLSHPML~~ : 379 : NDGGLYRLG~ : 361 : NDGGLYRLG~ : 359 : GDG-PYRLGP : 398	

Fig. 1 Alignment of deduced amino acid sequences of KNOX genes of Zea mays (Z_mays, KN1 X61308), Pisum sativum (P_sat, AF080104), Oryza sativa (O_sat, D16507), Medicago truncatula (M_trunc, AF308454), Glycine max (G_max, L13663) and Arabidopsis thaliana (A_thal, ATU14174).

ventral identity is established then, the organogenesis is started; OSH1 may finish its function early during embryogenesis with a decrease in its expression level. Sentoku et al. (1999) showed that all or some of the rice OSH homeobox genes may be involved in regionalization of the shoot area and/or the establishment of the SAM itself before shoot formation occurring early in embryogenesis. After shoot formation, however, the functions of the homeobox genes appear to differ. Some of these genes may maintain SAM activity in an indeterminate condition through continuous expression in the SAM, whereas others may be involved in pattern formation of the segmental units of the plant body and/or internodes development. Pre-patterning of specific cells by the expression of homeobox genes before morphological organ formation is the same as in organ formation during animal embryogenesis. Even though the body structures of plants and animals are quite different, there may be some common mechanisms in organ establishment and development in terms of homeobox function. Comparing the pattern expression of *KNOX* (*KNI*) gene in maize wild-type and mutant embryos, Bommert & Werr (2001) detected no *KNI* transcripts in emb*-8518 and emb*-8521 embryos between 15 and 30 DAP. KN1 amplicons are detected in wild-type embryos, but are missing in the two mutants. These results revealed that both mutants are arrested before establishment of a functional SAM. Recently, Belmonte et al. (2007) pointed out that HBK3, a KNOX class I gene, improves the development of Norway spruce (Picea abies) somatic embryos. Indeed, in lines overexpressing HBK3 (HBK3-S), somatic immature embryos showed enlarged embryogenic heads and were able to produce fully developed cotyledonary embryos at higher frequency. Furthermore, HBK3-S embryos had enlarged shoot apical meristems (SAMs). Lines in which *HBK3* was down-regulated (*HBK3-A*) had reduced ability to produce immature somatic embryos and were not able to complete the whole maturation process. Overall, these data confirm the importance of *KNOX* genes during development.

BELL1 (BEL) genes

The BEL family is another plant homeobox gene family that is closely related to the KNOX genes (Bürglin 1997; Chan et al. 1998; Becker et al. 2002). BEL transcription factors are essential for inflorescence and fruit development (Dong et al. 2000; Byrne et al. 2003; Roeder et al. 2003; Smith and Hake 2003; Bao et al. 2004; Bhatt et al. 2004; Smith et al. 2004). Based on genetic studies, an Arabidopsis BEL gene PENNYWISE (PNY) is involved in regulating early internode patterning events and is also necessary for replum development during fruit maturation (Byrne et al. 2003; Roeder et al. 2003; Smith and Hake 2003; Bao et al. 2004; Bhatt et al. 2004; Kanrar et al. 2006). Genetic analysis of BEL in Arabidopsis showed that expression of this transcription factor regulated the development of ovule integument. The loss-of-function phenotype of bel mutant ovules indicates that determination of integument initiation and organ identity is controlled by expression of the BEL homeobox gene. BEL appears to interpret positional information and control morphogenesis of the integuments through the regulation of genes within the chalazal domain (Robinson-Beers et al. 1992). In bel mutant ovules, the inner integument fails to form, the outer integument develops abnormally, and the embryo sac arrests at a late stage of megagametogenesis. During later stages of ovule development, cells of the outer integument of a *bel* ovule sometimes develop into a carpel-like structure with stigmatic papillae and second-order ovules. The frequency of carpel-like structures was highest when plants were grown under conditions that normally induced flowering and was correlated with ectopic expression in the ovule of *AGAMOUS* (*AG*), an organ-identity gene required for carpel formation (Modrusan *et al.* 1994). The *BEL* gene family was identified in several plants such as tomato (Ron *et al.* 2001, Direct Submission AF375964), potato (Chen *et al.* 2003), *Arabidopsis* (Reiser *et al.* 1995), apple (Dong *et al.* 2000), barley (Muller *et al.* 2001) and *Gnetum gnemon* (Becker *et al.* 2002).

LEUCINE ZIPPER (HD-ZIP) genes

HD-ZIP protein can be divided into three classes by their sequence similarity of the HD and the presence or absence of some motifs outside of the HD. The functions of the HD-ZIP proteins have been investigated and studies have revealed that these proteins do not have a common function, even in the same subclass. The class I and class II proteins are primarily involved in signal transduction pathways in response to various environmental stimuli (Hanson et al. 2001; Ito et al. 2002). The class III proteins play a role in initiation and function of the shoot apical meristem (SAM) as well as in initiation of axillary SAMs and their functions appear to be critical for the formation of an embryonic SAM (Emery et al. 2003; Prigge et al. 2005). In relation with their role in SAM establishment, HD-ZIP class III proteins are initially expressed throughout the proembryo but their expression later becomes restricted to a central apical position (Emery et al. 2003; Prigge et al. 2005; Floyd et al. 2006).

PHD-FINGER genes

The PHD-FINGER homeobox genes encode proteins with the zinc-finger domain, named the PHD-FINGER domain, a cysteine-rich region in the N-terminal region of the homeodomain. The HD is at C-terminal region, as in the case of KNOX genes (Ito et al. 2002; Ito et al. 2004). Some proteins of this family have two homeodomains together with the PHD-FINGER domain. In maize, PHD-FINGER genes are mainly expressed in meristematic cells and are restricted to the early developmental stage of embryogenesis (Klinge et al. 1996; Ito et al. 2002). Deletion of the PHD-FINGER domain from the PHD-FINGER protein of Arabidopsis causes severe disturbances in DNA binding (Schindler et al. 1993). Overexpression of ZMHOX1, a maize PHD-FINGER gene, in tobacco lead to several developmental defects such as dwarfism, adventitious shoot formation (due to the loss of apical dominance), and homeotic transformations of floral organs (Uberlacker et al. 1996). PHD-FINGER proteins are thought to function in certain developmental process in maize by controlling expression of target genes (Comelli et al. 1999; Ito et al. 2004). Ito et al. (2004) showed that HAZ1, a rice PHD-FINGER protein isolate from three days old embryos, was similar in its entire amino acid sequence to ZMHOXIa (52% identity) and ZMHOXIb (50% identity), PHD-FINGER proteins of maize. But overexpression of HAZ1 does not affect the phenotype either in tobacco or in rice (Ito et al. 2004). These authors also demonstrated that HAZI was expressed at a higher level in the outer layers of a developing globular embryo (3 DAP) than in the inner parts. At 4 and 5 DAPs, the expression of HAZ1 was concentrated at the ventral part of an embryo. Recently, it was proved that Arabidopsis contain 14 members of this family gene. All members of this family are expressed predominantly or exclusively in floral tissue, indicating a likely regulatory role during floral development (Tan and Irish 2006)

GLABRA2 (HD-GL2) genes

The analysis of the HD-GL2 protein region adjacent to the homeodomain reveals the presence of a truncated leucine zipper-like segment at the same position as the HD-ZIP proteins. Due to these similarities, GLABRA2-like proteins are sometimes included in class IV of the HD-ZIP family (Di Cristina et al. 1996), while others have considered it as a separate family, since its components have characteristic features that differentiate them from the HD-ZIP family (Lu et al. 1996; Palena et al. 1997; Chan et al. 1998). This homeobox gene family encodes a protein required for normal trichome and root hair development. From the fertilization to the eight cell stage of embryogenesis, the Arabidopsis ATML1 gene, which is a member of HD-GL2 homeobox gene family, is expressed uniformly in the embryo proper. The expression of ATML1 is then restricted to the outer cell layer belonging to the protoderm (Lu *et al.* 1996). Based on this expression pattern, *ATML1* is considered to be a good molecular marker for the protoderm and also for radial pattern formations. Since protoderm differentiation takes place at a very early stage (16- to 32-cell stage), it appears that the radial pattern formation, the protoderm differentiation and the protoderm-specific ATML1 mRNA accumulation occur simultaneously in Arabidopsis embryogenesis. The same observations were shown in rice with ROC1, a GL2-type homeobox gene (Rice outermost cellspecific gene1). ROC1 is specifically expressed in the protoderm (epidermis) and this expression is established shortly after fertilization, much earlier than protoderm dif-ferentiation (Yang *et al.* 2002). The maize *HD-GL2* genes ZMOCL1, ZMOCL3, ZMOCL4 and ZMOCL5 essentially exhibit the L1/protoderm/epidermis-specific expression patterns during early embryogenesis and in meristematic regions or young organ primordia at later stages (Ingram et al. 1999; Ingram et al. 2000). These observations show that the transcripts of HD-GL2 genes are restricted to epidermal tissues or their precursor cells (Yang et al. 2002). The GLAB-RA2 may represent a unique family of homeobox genes that specialize in control of lateral patterning in embryos and maintaining cell-layer identity in meristematic regions (Chan et al. 1998). GLABRA2 gene was also involved in the control of seed oil accumulation in Arabidopsis (Shen et al. 2006).

WUSHEL (WUS) protein

A WUS gene was first characterized in Arabidopsis by Laux et al. (1996). The homeodomain of WUS gene has two and four additional amino acids in the loop between helix I and helix II and the turn between helix II and helix III, respectively. WUS proteins were initially considered to play important roles in the speciation of the stem cells in the shoot apical meristem of developing embryos (Laux et al. 1996; Hamada et al. 2000; Kieffer et al. 2006). In the mature embryo of Arabidopsis wus mutant, shoot apical meristem organization is aberrant with only a few vacuolated cells. After germination, the shoot apical meristem is terminated prematurely as a flat enlarged apex. In the shoot apical meristem of the wus mutant, the stem cells appear to undergo differentiation, instead of maintaining a pluripotant state in the functional shoot apical meristem (Laux et al. 1996). Further studies showed also that these genes were involved in the specification and the maintenance of the stem cells in the root apical meristem, by a mechanism similar to that in the shoot apical meristem (Kamiya et al. 2003; Haecker et al. 2004). The rice WUS gene was found to be specifically expressed in the central cells of the root. During embryogenesis and crown root formation, rice WUS gene expression is observed prior to the morphological differentiation of the root. This expression pattern was different between radicle and crown root formation during the process of the root apical meristem development (Kamiya et al. 2003).

HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN GENES

The HEAT SHOCK RESPONSE (HSR) is an evolutionarily conserved reaction to elevated temperatures (heat shock or heat stress) that is essential to the survival of eukaryotic cells and organisms. Indeed severe heat stress induces alterations in the conformation of cellular proteins, and leads to protein denaturation or aggregation and cell death. In response to increased temperature, the transcription and translation of many cellular proteins are repressed or arrested, whereas the expression of a small subset of specialized HEAT SHOCK PROTEINS (HSPs) is increased preferentially. The HSPs are molecular chaperonins that regulate protein homeostasis and membrane fluidity and ultimately prevent or delay cell death during heat stress. Most plant tissues and cells are competent to induce the HSR during thermal stress. However, two stages in the plant life cycle, pollen germination and early embryogenesis (i.e. before cotyledon formation), are notable for their inability to invoke the full HSR. As a result, these tissues are especially sensitive to thermal stress (Schöffl et al. 1998; Fu et al. 2002). The HSPs are usually divided into high-molecular-mass (HMM) proteins of more than 30 kDa and low-molecular-mass (LMM) protein of about 17 to 30 kDa (Lindquist and Craig 1988; Vierling 1991). In contrast to animal systems, plants synthesize more LMM HSPs than HMM HSPs. The plant LMM HSPs superfamily is unusually complex, consisting of at least six gene families based on DNA sequence analysis, immunological cross-reactivity, and intracellular localization; proteins encoded by the different LMM HSPs gene families are targeted to different cellular compartments, including the cytosol, chloroplasts, mitochondria, and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Waters et al. 1996). Plants LMM HSPs are represented by over 45 complete protein coding sequences including sequences from many different angiosperms, and a gymnosperm, Pseudotsuga menziesii (Tranbarger and Misra 1995). These sequences comprise four gene families encoding proteins localized in the cytosol (classes I and II), the chloroplast and the ER. A fifth class of smHSPs gene encoding a protein localized in mitochondria has been identified from Pisum sativum (Lenne and Douce 1994). A potential sixth class of LMM HSPs is represented by a single cDNA from Glycine max (LaFayette et al. 1996; Waters et al. 1996).

In addition to being part of the heat shock response, some plant LMM HSPs genes have been shown to be expressed at normal growth temperatures during zygotic embryogenesis. Expression of heat-shock genes occurs during embryogenesis from somatic cells, microspores, and developing pollen in alfalfa and tobacco (Gyôrgyey et al. 1991; Zarsky et al. 1995). Changes in concentrations of artificial phytohormones, heat shock, and starvation are known to induce somatic or microspore embryogenesis. Despite these largely different conditions, microspore-derived embryos from tobacco and somatic embryos from alfalfa express LMM HSPs during the globular and heart stages but not during the following torpedo stage. These data raise the question of whether heat-shock gene expression during early somatic embryogenesis is a general phenomenon that is also relevant to zygotic embryogenesis. In zygotic embryos, expression of *HEAT-SHOCK* genes occurs during the maturation stage of the seed, when cell division has ceased and seeds become tolerant to dessication. In sunflower, expression of class II LMM HSPS seems to parallel roughly storage protein and lipid accumulation, whereas expression of class I coincides with seed desiccation (Coca et al. 1994). It has been proposed that HSPS are important for desiccation tolerance of the embryo or are required for germination upon rehydration. Similar to other plants, Arabidopsis thaliana accumulates a specific set of HSPS (ATHSP17.4 and ATHSP17.6) during seed maturation, whereas ATHSP18.2 is not expressed (Wehmeyer *et al.* 1996). The expression of subsets of *HEAT-SHOCK* genes during gametogenesis and embryogenesis suggests that the developmentally expressed HSPs play certain functions that may differ to some extent

from those required for coping with environmentally stressed vegetative tissue. Furthermore, these findings may indicate differences in the signal transduction pathway (Schöffl et al. 1998). Helm and Abernethy (1990) showed the presence of LMM HSPs mRNAs during wheat embryos development in normal condition. They concluded that the expression of these LMM HSPs is a normal part of wheat embryo development, and is not a consequence of heat stress experienced by the parental plants during embryogenesis. Fu et al. (2002) studied the expression of HSPs during a maize mutant embryo development. A recessive mutation at the locus EMPTY PERICARP2 (EMP2) led to dramatically increased expression of heat shock genes, retarded embryo development, and early-stage abortion of embryogenesis. The developmental timing of emp2 mutant embryo lethality was correlated with the initial ability of maize kernels to invoke the HSR. The developmental retardation of emp2 mutant kernels before the HSR suggests an additional role for EMP2 during embryo development distinct from the HSR.

LIPID TRANSFER PROTEIN GENES

LIPID-TRANSFER PROTEINS (LTPS) facilitate the transfer of lipids between membranes. The binding of lipids to LTPS can be both specific and nonspecific. The nonspecific lipid transfer proteins (nsLTPs; Rueckert and Schmidt 1990) have an affinity for a variety of hydrophobic molecules, such as monoacylated and diacylated lipid molecules including fatty acids (Han et al. 2001), fatty acyl CoA (Lerche et al. 1997), lyso-phosphatidylcholine (Charvolin et al. 1999), and phosphatidylglycerol (Sodano et al. 1997). They have been isolated from a diverse range of organisms, from bacteria and yeast to higher plants and animals (Rueckert and Schmidt 1990; Smolenaars et al. 2007). Plant nonspecific LIPID TRANSFER PROTEINS (nsLTPs) were first isolated from spinach leaves (Kader et al. 1984) and then have been isolated from rice, wheat, barley, maize, peaches, and apricots (Hollenbach et al. 1997; Poznanski et al. 1999; Han et al. 2001; Pons et al. 2003). nsLTPs are widely distributed and form a superfamily of related proteins subdivided into two families: nsLTP1 (~9 kDa) and nsLTP2 (~7 kDa; Kader 1996). Both families are multigenic, and more than 150 sequences of plant nsLTPs are listed in data bases. The presence of multiple members of the *nsLTP* family may be a consequence of gene duplications and subsequent sequence variation, while those residues crucial to function are conserved (Vignols et al. 1997; Clark and Bohnert 1999). Although the nucleotide and amino acid sequences have considerable divergences, several features are highly con-served in the encoded *nsLTPs*, including eight cysteine residues to form four disulphide bonds (Kader 1996).

nsLTPs were originally assumed to participate in phospholipid transfer between membranes, membrane biogenesis, modification of the lipid composition of a membrane, and in the function of membrane-bound enzymes using lipids as substrates (Kader et al. 1982; Arondel and Kader 1990; Wirtz 1991; Kader 1996). However, observations demonstrated that LTPs are extracellularly located and secreted (Sterk *et al.* 1991; Tsuboi *et al.* 1992; Coutos *et al.* 1993; Thoma *et al.* 1993). These findings suggest *LTPs* involvement in other roles such as cutin formation (Meijer et *al.* 1993; Hendriks *et al.* 1994; Pyee and Kolattukudy 1995), embryogenesis (Sterk *et al.* 1991; Thoma *et al.* 1994; Kader 1997), defense reactions against pathogens (Molina et al. 1993; Garcia-Olmedo et al. 1995), and adaptation of plants to environmental and abiotic changes (Jung et al. 2003; Wu et al. 2004). In addition, several members of the nsLTP family have been identified as relevant allergens in plant foods and pollens. Their high resistance to heat treatment, chemical denaturation and enzymatic digestion has been related with the induction by these allergens of severe symptoms in many patients (De Oliveira and Gomes 2007; Salcedo et al. 2007).

The expression pattern of nsLTPs is complex, character-

ized by strong developmental and tissue specificity with distinct patterns of expression for the different genes. For example, strong cell specificity, mainly in epidermal cells, has been observed in both maize seedlings (Sossountzov et al. 1991) and carrot embryos (Sterk et al. 1991). However, in rape seedlings, a *nsLTP* gene was found to be expressed in the entire cotyledon (Soufleri et al. 1996). In contrast, another *nsLTP* gene is specifically expressed in the tapetal cell layer in rape seed (Foster et al. 1992) and Lilium henryi (Crossley et al. 1995). Recent studies on embryogenesis were based on the position-specific expression of an *nsLTP* gene from Arabidopsis named ATLTP1. This gene is highly expressed in embryo protoderm, which is the precursor of the plant epidermis. The expression of the gene was studied in several Arabidopsis mutant embryos (knolle, keule and gnom) in which the mutation affects the formation of the apical-basal and radial axes. Using in situ hybridization, as well as by following ATLTP1 promoter-β-glucuronidase transgene expression, it was observed that pattern formation in the embryo is reflected in the position-specific expression of this LTP gene (Vroemen et al. 1996). It was also found that ATLTPI is expressed in the outer cell layer of Arabidopsis raspberry embryos, which are morphologically arrested at the first stage (globular) of their formation (Yadegari et al. 1994). Together, these observations suggest that cell differentiation is uncoupled from morphogenesis during embryo development. The studies also show the utility of nsLTP genes as tissue-specific markers in mutant embrvos.

In *P. vulgaris, nsLTP (PVLTP)* gene was induced by water deficit and ABA treatment. The deduced protein presents similarity with *LTPs* from different plants, showing the highest identity (57%) with maize *nsLTP, MZEPLTP* (Colmenero-Flores *et al.* 1997). Under water deficit conditions, the experiments showed that the *PVLTP* transcript accumulates mainly in the aerial regions of the plant (stems and leaves) while its accumulation is very low in stressed roots. This organ-specific expression can also be observed in well irrigated plants where mRNA can be detected in stems and leaves but not in roots. Such specific expression can be that of a gene whose product responds to the need for a higher impermeabilization of the plant surface (epidermal regions) in order to decrease water loss, particularly under water-limiting conditions.

PASTICCINO (PAS) GENES

The growth and differentiation of higher plants is also greatly dependent on environmental stimuli, such as light and temperature, and on endogenous factors, such as phytohormones. For instance, cell division and proliferation, controls of which are essential for proper plant development, are tightly regulated by cytokinin and auxin. Cytokinins (CKs) were originally identified by their ability to stimulate division and sustained tobacco pith cell growth when added in combination with auxin (Davies 1995). Cytokinins have an important role in various physiological processes and were one of the first plant hormones to be isolated. Since their discovery, numerous reports have demonstrated that cytokinins are implicated in a wide variety of plant growth and development processes including cell division, organ formation and regeneration, apical dominance, vascular development, nutrient mobility, and senescence (Noodén 1988; Estruch *et al.* 1991; Mok 1994; Schmulling 2002).

The *PASTICCINO* (*PAS*) genes, which are involved in the control of cell division, proliferation and differentiation, are required for normal organization of the apical region in the embryo. *Pasticcino* mutants, which belong to three complementation groups (*pas1*, *pas2*, *pas3*), were isolated in the progeny of independent ethyl methane sulfonate and T-DNA mutagenized *A. thaliana* plants. These mutants show a range of severe developmental defects throughout the growth stages: embryo formation is altered at the heart stage when cotyledon primordia are initiated; cotyledons do not form correctly, leading to a flat apex; seedlings possess short, thick hypocotyls and misshaped cotyledons; and mature plants are characterized by abnormal compact rosettes with multiple shoots. Irregular root development is also observed and consists of short primary root and no or very rare secondary root formation. *pas* mutants show altered response to exogenous cytokinin but are not affected in cytokinin biosynthesis (Faure *et al.* 1998; Bellec *et al.* 2002).

The A. thaliana pasl mutants were identified due to their abnormal seedling phenotypes. The mutants have more cell layers in the cotyledons and hypocotyls than wild type, a characteristic which is exaggerated by hyper proliferation when the seedlings are grown in the presence of exogenous cytokinins. The pas1 phenotype is complex; these mutants have altered embryo development, shorter primary roots and reduced elongation of lateral roots compared to wild type, short bushy compact rosettes, and infertile flowers. The predicted protein sequence encoded by the PAS1 gene is similar to those of the FK506-binding protein (FKBP) class of immunophilins (Faure et al. 1998; Vittorioso et al. 1998). The cytokinin induction of primary cytokinin response markers ARR1 and ARR6 is enhanced and prolonged in pas mutants, suggesting that PAS functions to repress the cytokinin response. Finally, down-regulation of the primary auxin response genes IAA4 and IAA1 in pas mutants suggests an alteration in auxin response (Harrar et al. 2003). Mutants of the Arabidopsis gene PAS2 develop abnormal shoot phenotypes from slow tumor-like cell proliferation. In absence of cytokinins, *pas2* mutant development is severely altered with an abnormal embryo development leading to embryos with short and large hypocotyl and very reduced round cotyledons (Faure et al. 1998). After germination, both hypocotyl and cotyledons failed to develop normally, leading to seedlings with short and wide hypocotyl and reduced finger-shaped cotyledons. pas2 cotyledons showed a complete loss of bilateral symmetry. Drastic pas2 defects are detectable in embryogenesis at the heart stage for the first time and are later manifested mainly in shoot while root is only retarded in its growth (Haberer et al. 2002). A striking feature of *pas2* adult plants was the occurrence of spontaneous fusion between organs such as leaves, stems, flowers, or siliques (Bellec et al. 2002). pas3 like pas1 mutant displayed variable phenotypes such as one or no cotyledons. Seven days after germination, this mutant has shorter primary root than in the wild type and the other *pas* mutants, and also show rare secondary roots (Faure et al. 1998).

LEAFY COTYLEDON (LEC) GENES

Arabidopsis Leafy Cotyledon (LEC) genes are central regulators of embryogenesis that play key roles in processes that occur during both the morphogenesis and maturation phases. LEC genes are defined by mutations at three loci: LECI, LEC2, and FUSCA3 (FUS3) that have major effects on embryo development. All three mRNA have been found to be expressed only in embryos (Lotan et al. 1998; Nambara et al. 2000; Baumbusch et al. 2004; Baumbusch 2006). LEC1 and LEC2 were shown to regulate the expression level of the third one, FUS3 during seed filling (Wang et al. 2007). On the other hand, LEC genes are regulator factors involved in oil accumulation during seed maturation (Baud et al. 2007; Wang et al. 2007). During the morphogenesis phase, the *LEC* genes are required to maintain suspensor cell identity. In lec mutants, the suspensor which in Arabidopsis normally consists of a single file of cells, undergoes abnormal cell divisions, resulting in a structure that is several cell layers wide. In some genotypes, the abnormal suspensor continues to proliferate and gives rise to a secondary embryo. Another early function of the LEC genes is the specification of cotyledon identity. The adaxial surfaces of lec mutant cotyledons have trichomes, a leaf trait in Arabidopsis, and the anatomy of some *lec* mutant cotyledons is intermediate between cotyledons and leaves. These observations suggest that in the absence of LEC gene activity cotyledons are incompletely specified and revert partially to leaf-like organ (Lotan et al. 1998; West et al. 1994; Harada 2001;

Kwong *et al.* 2003; Lee *et al.* 2003; Kagaya *et al.* 2005). The *LEC1* gene encodes a transcription factor. mRNA accumulation resulting from this gene starts from preglobular to cotyledon stage, is limited to seed development, and is high during seed maturation. *FUS3* transcripts accumulation was observed during mid-embryogenesis (West *et al.* 1994; Lotan *et al.* 1998; Baumbusch *et al.* 2004; Baumbusch 2006). *LEC2* quickly and directly activates the expression of seed specific genes such as *S3 OLEOSIN* (*S3*) and *AT2S3 ALBUMIN*. In a second phase, it triggers the accumulation of the three regulatory genes leading to another increase of the level of *S3* and *AT2S3* mRNAs. Interestingly, this induction led to the accumulation of seed specific triacylglycerols in leaves (Mendoza *et al.* 2005).

lec mutants of Arabidopsis are unable to distinguish between embryonic and vegetative patterns of plant development. *lec* mutations exhibit morphological characteristics such as altered cotyledon morphology, desiccation intolerance and occasional vivipary. The *fus3* mutation in *Arabidopsis* affects several aspects of embryogenesis, provoking a *lec*-like phenotype with ectopic trichomes, dessication intolerance and precocious germination (Meinke 1992; West *et al.* 1994; Nambara *et al.* 2000).

TITAN (TTN) GENES

The *TITAN* (*TTN*) genes encode chromosome scaffold proteins of the condensing and cohesion classes named *STRUC-TURAL MAINTENANCE OF CHROMOSOME* (*SMC*) proteins (condensins and cohesins) required for chromosome function at mitosis. They are conserved in most prokaryotes and all eukaryotes examined and play essential roles in networks that are responsible for sister chromatid cohesion, chromosome condensation, dosage compensation and recombination repair (Michaelis *et al.* 1997; Lieb *et al.* 1998; Liu *et al.* 2002; Tzafrir *et al.* 2002; Liu and Makaroff 2006). *SMC* proteins perform essential functions during embryo and endosperm development. At least nine different genes controlling titan phenotype have been identified; *TTN* genes played a direct role in either cell cycle control or the structural mechanics of mitosis (Liu and Meinke 1998; Liu *et al.* 2002; Tzafrir *et al.* 2002).

The *titan* mutants of Arabidopsis exhibit striking defects in seed development. These mutants are defective in karyokinesis and the defining feature is the presence of abnormal endosperm with giant polyploid nuclei which is up to 100 times larger than the wild-type, during early stages of seed development. Embryo development is arrested shortly after fertilization in most *ttn* mutants and in some cases is accompanied by dramatic cell enlargement. Mutant embryos differ in cell size, morphology and viability, depending on the locus involved (Liu and Meinke 1998; McElver *et al.* 2000; Liu *et al.* 2002; Tzafrir *et al.* 2002).

Liu and Meinke (1998) discussed three titan mutants

with related but distinct phenotypes in Arabidopsis. Chromosome condensation has been observed in all titan mutants, while mitotic figures have only been seen in *titan3*. Development of *titan1* and *titan2* embryos is arrested at the 1-2 cell stage, whereas *titan3* can produce fertile homozygous mutant plants. The *ttn1* phenotype includes extraordinary enlargement of nuclei in the embryo and endosperm, similar enlargement of cells in the arrested embryo, and a disruption of endosperm nuclear migration to the chalazal end of the seed. Defects in *ttn2* are limited to early embryonic lethality and enlargement of endosperm nuclei. Embryo development in *ttn3* is surprisingly normal but is accompanied by the formation of giant endosperm nuclei early in development and the appearance of aberrant mitotic figures with numerous condensed chromosomes. Another unique feature of the *ttn3* phenotype is cellularization of the mutant endosperm late in development.

The ttn4 mutant identified by Wu (1999) resembles ttn2 in phenotype and appears to encode plant-specific proteins of unknown function. The ttn5 mutant is most similar to *ttn1* except that migration of endosperm nuclei is not disrupted (McElver et al. 2000). The tin6 (Tzafrir et al. 2002) embryo cells often appeared rounded and disorganized. Endosperm cellularization was also disrupted. Defects visible at the heart stage of normal development included: increased size and reduced number of endosperm nuclei and nucleoli; and developmental arrest of the embryo proper. Endosperm nuclear enlargement was similar to that observed with other titans (Liu and Meinke 1998; McElver et al. 2000). Embryo proper and endosperm nucleolus size increases after the heart stage. A number of small nucleoli with a diameter of 5 to 6 μ m were also found in the mutant endosperm, and their size remained constant between the heart and cotyledon stages. This variability in nuclear size within a single seed is a common feature of *titan* mutants. Most *ttn6* seeds at the heart stage contained between 20 and 50 endosperm nuclei. This number did not increase later in development and remained far below the number found in wild-type seeds. Therefore, endosperm nuclear division is completed at about the same time in mutant and wild-type seeds (Tzafrir et al. 2002). TTN9 with a titan endosperm phenotype encodes a novel plant-specific protein of unknown function. The *ttn9* embryo, which contained at most four small cells, was typical of this class and resembled the cohesin (ttn7 and ttn8) knockouts. TTN9 appears to be a single copy gene that is expressed in siliques based on EST data (Liu et al. 2002; Tzafrir et al. 2002). The Table 1 summarizes some distinguishing features observed in titan mutant seeds.

Table 1	Phenotypic	variation	observed	in Arabido	psis titan	mutant seeds.
					F	

Endosperm phenotype				References		
Mutant	Nuclear size	Nuclear migration	Nuclear size	Cell morphology	Embryo viability	
titan l	Giant (~ $60\mu m$, observed in 72.5% of seeds)	Absent	Giant	Giant	Inviable small embryos with only one or few large cells	Liu and Meinke1998; Tzafrir <i>et al.</i> 2002
titan2	Giant	Present	Normal	Aborted	Inviable embryos composed of several small cells	
titan3	Giant	Present	Normal	Normal	Viable	
titan4	Giant, observed in 75% of seeds of seeds observed					Tzafrir et al. 2002
titan5	Giant (~ 23.5µm)	Present		Giant, can exceed 150 µm in diameter		McElver et al. 2000
titan6	Giant, (~ 21µm, observed in			· (~ 56.5μm)	Arrested at the	Tzafrir et al. 2002
	77.20% of seeds)				preglobular/globular stage	
titan7	Giant, observed in 77% of seeds					Liu et al. 2002
titan8	Giant, observed in 88% of seeds					
titan9	Giant, observed in 73% of seeds					Tzafrir et al. 2002

Wild-type seeds have 150 to 300 endosperm nuclei at the developmental heart stage. Normal nucleolus size is 4 µm in diameter. Normal embryo cell diameter is 8 µm.

CONCLUSION AND PROSPECTS

Some major genes playing an important role in plant embryogenesis were described. Mutations in these genes affect normal development of plant embryos. After alignment of mRNA coding sequences from each gene family in the model plant, DNA primers were designed to target conserved domains of these genes and to identify related genomic sequences in *Phaseolus* (results not shown). Expression of the genes involved in embryogenesis was studied from mRNA extracted from *Phaseolus* ovules. RT-PCR reactions revealed several bands from all the described genes, with the exception of *KNOX* genes; and also showed different accumulation levels of *LTP* gene during *Phaseolus* embryo development.

In the following steps of our investigation, *Phaseolus* amplified fragments from RT-PCR will be extracted from agarose and inserted into the pCR2.1 vector plasmid. Ligated fragments will be sequenced with LICOR System (IR2, DNA Analyzer). BLASTN sequence homology analyses will be performed by using the BLAST network. Gene sequences with high homologies and unknown in *Phaseolus* will be submitted to NCBI for registration.

On the other side, mutants deficient in seed development were isolated from an ethyl methane sulphonate (EMS)-induced mutant collection of common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris cv. 'BAT93') from the University of Geneva (Switzerland) (Pankhurst et al. 2004). Seeds of these mutants aborted within 15 to 25 days after anthesis. These mutants will be used to study the expression of embryogenesis genes described above by RT-PCR and to isolate major genes involved in seed development by Suppression Subtractive Hybridization (SSH) technique (Diatchenko et al. 1996; Marenda et al. 2004). This method is based on the construction of subtracted cDNA libraries that allow the identification and isolation of differentially expressed transcript. SSH will allow isolating different cDNAs between degenerated seeds of mutants and normal seeds of wild type. Isolated cDNAs will be sequenced and analysed with BLAST network service.

We mentioned that immature embryos from the crosses *P. polyanthus* (as female) x *P. vulgaris* and *P. coccineus* (as female) x *P. vulgaris* aborted usually at the globular or early heart-shaped developmental stages. SSH technique will be used to isolate specific genes involved in embryo abortion, and to analyze allele sequences of these genes in the different collections of *P. vulgaris*, *P. polyanthus* and *P. coccineus* genotypes. This type of analysis will allow to understand better some gene disruption occurring during *Phaseolus* hybrid embryo development and device the most efficient ways to overcome post-zygotic barriers in this genus.

REFERENCES

- Alonso JM, Stepanova AN, Leisse TJ, Kim CJ, Chen H, Shinn P, Stevenson DK, Zimmerman J, Barajas P, Cheuk R, Gadrinab C, Heller C, Jeske A, Koesema E, Meyers CC, Parker H, Prednis L, Ansari Y, Choy N, Deen H, Geralt M, Hazari N, Hom E, Karnes M, Mulholland C, Ndubaku R, Schmidt I, Guzman P, Aguilar-Henonin L, Schmid M, Weigel D, Carter DE, Marchand T, Risseeuw E, Brogden D, Zeko A, Crosby WL, Berry CC, Ecker JR (2003) Genome-wide insertional mutagenesis of *Arabidopsis thaliana. Science* **301**, 653-657
- Apuya NR, Yadegari R, Fischer RL, Harada JJ, Zimmerman JL, Goldberg RB (2001) The *Arabidopsis* embryo mutant schlepperless has a defect in the chaperonin-60α gene. *Plant Physiology* **126**, 717-730

Arondel V, Kader JC (1990) Lipid transfer in plants. Experientia 46, 579-585

- Bao X, Franks RG, Levine JZ, Liu Z (2004) Repression of AGAMOUS by BELLRINGER in floral and inflorescence meristems. *Plant Cell* 16, 1478-1489
- Baud S, Mendoza MS, To A, Harscoët E, Lepiniec L, Dubreucq B (2007) WRINKLED1 specifies the regulatory action of LEAFY COTYLEDON2 towards fatty acid metabolism during seed maturation in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Journal* 50, 825-838
- Baudoin JP (2001) Contribution des ressources phytogénétiques à la sélection variétale de légumineuses alimentaires tropicales. *Biotechnologie, Agronomie, Société et Environnement* 5, 221-230

- Baudoin JP, Vanderborght T, Kimani PM, Mwang'Ombe AW (2001) Grain legumes: Common bean. In: Ramaeker RH (Ed) *Crop Production in Tropical Africa*, DGCI (Directorate General for International Cooperation), Brussels, Belgium, pp 317-334
- Baudoin JP, Silué S, Geerts P, Mergeai G, Jacquemin JM, Toussaint A (2004) Interspecific hybridization with *Phaseolus vulgaris* L.: Embryo development and its genetics. In: Pandalai SG (Ed) *Recent Research Developments in Genetics and Breeding* (Vol I, Part II), Research Signpost, Trivandrum, Kerala, India, pp 349-364
- Baumbusch LO, Wayne Hughes D, Galau GA, Jakobsen KS (2004) LEC1, FUS3, ABI3 and Em expression reveals no correlation with dormancy in Arabidopsis. Journal of Experimental Botany 55, 77-87
- Baumbusch LO (2006) Genetic control of plant embryogenesis and embryo dormancy in Arabidopsis. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues (1st Edn, Vol I), Global Science Books, London, pp 417-428
- Beaver JS, Perea CGM, Osorno JM, Ferwerda FH, Miklas PN (2005) Registration of Bean golden yellow mosaic virus Resistant Dry Bean Germplasm Lines PR9771-3-2, PR0247-49, and PR0157-4-1. Crop Science 45, 2126-2127
- Belles-Boix E, Hamant O, Witiak SM, Morin H, Traas J, Pautot V (2006) KNAT6: an Arabidopsis homeobox gene involved in meristem activity and organ separation. The Plant Cell 18, 1900-1907
- Becker A, Bey M, Bürglin TR, Saedler H, Theissen G (2002) Ancestry and diversity of BEL1-like homeobox genes revealed by gymnosperm (*Gnetum* gnemon) homologs. Development, Genes and Evolution 212, 452-457
- Bellec Y, Harrar Y, Butaeye C, Darnet S, Bellini C, Faure JD (2002) Pasticcino2 is a protein tyrosine phosphatase-like involved in cell proliferation and differentiation in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal 32, 713-722
- Belmonte MF, Tahir M, Schroeder D, Stasolla C (2007) Overexpression of HBK3, a class I KNOX homeobox gene, improves the development of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) somatic embryos. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58, 2851-2861
- Berleth T, Chatfield S (2002) Embryogenesis: pattern formation from a single cell. In: Somerville CR, Meyerowitz EM (Eds) *The Arabidopsis Book*, American Society of Plant Biologists, Rockville, MD, pp 1-22
- Bhatt AM, Etchells JP, Canales C, Lagodienko A, Dickson H (2004) VAA-MANA a BEL1-like homeodomain protein interacts with KNOX proteins BP and STM and regulates inflorescence stem growth in *Arabidopsis. Gene* 328, 103-111
- Bianchini A (1999) Resistance to bean golden mosaic virus in bean genotypes. Plant Disease 83, 615-620
- Bommert P, Werr W (2001) Gene expression patterns in maize caryopsis: clues to decisions in embryo and endosperm development. *Gene* 271, 131-124
- Bowman JL, Eshed Y (2000) Formation and maintenance of the shoot apical meristem. *Trends in Plant Science* 5, 110-115
- Bracero V, Rivera LI, Beaver JS (2003) DNA analysis confirms Macroptilium lathyroides as alternative host of Bean golden yellow mosaic virus. Plant Disease 87, 1022-1025
- Brand U, Grunewald M, Hobe M, Simon R (2002) Regulation of CLV3 expression by two homeobox genes in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology 129, 565-575
- Broughton WJ, Hernandez G, Blair MW, Beebe S, Gepts P, Vanderleyden J (2003) Beans (*Phaseolus* spp.) - Model Food Legumes. *Plant and Soil* 252, 55-128
- Bürglin TR (1997) Analysis of TALE superclass homeobox genes (MEIS, PBC, KNOX, Iroquois, TGIF) reveals a novel domain conserved between plants and animals. *Nucleic Acids Research* 25, 4173-4180
- Byrne ME, Groover AT, Fontana JR, Martienssen RA (2003) Phyllotactic pattern and stem cell fate are determined by the *Arabidopsis* homeobox gene BELLRINGER. *Development* **130**, 3941-3950
- Camarena F (1988) Etude de la transmission des caractères de Phaseolus polyanthus Greenm. dans Phaseolus vulgaris L. à travers l'utilisation du cytoplasme de P. polyanthus, PhD Thesis, Gembloux Agricultural University, Faculté Universitaire des Sciences Agronomiques de Gembloux, Gembloux, Belgium, 237 pp
- Carabelli M, Sessa G, Baima S, Morelli G, Ruberti I (1993) The Arabidopsis Athb-2 and Athb-4 genes are strongly induced by far-red-rich light. The Plant Journal 4, 469-479
- Chan RL, Gago GM, Palena CM, Gonzalez DH (1998) Homeoboxed in plant development. *Biochimica and Biophysica Acta* 1442, 1-19
- Charvolin D, Douliez JP, Marion D, Cohen-Addad C, Pebay-Peyroula E (1999) The crystal structure of a wheat non-specific lipid transfer protein (ns-LTP1) complexed with two molecules of phospholipid at 2.1 Å resolution. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 264, 562-568
- Chasan R (1992) In the realm of the homeodomain. Plant Cell 4, 237-240
- Chen H, Rosin FM, Prat S, Hannapel DJ (2003) Interacting transcription factors from the three-amino acid loop extension superclass regulate tuber formation. *Plant Physiology* 132, 1391-1404
- Clark AM, Bohnert HJ (1999) Cell-specific expression of genes of the lipid transfer protein family from Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell Physiology 40, 69-76

- Coca MA, Almoguera C, Jordano J (1994) Expression of sunflower lowmolecular-weight heat-shock proteins during embryogenesis and persistence after germination: localization and possible functional implications. *Plant Molecular Biology* 25, 479-492
- Colmenero-Flores JM, Campos F, Garciarrubio A, Covarrubias AA (1997) Characterization of *Phaseolus vulgaris* cDNA clones responsive to water deficit: identification of a novel late embryogenesis abundant-like protein. *Plant Molecular Biology* 35, 393-405
- Comelli P, König J, Werr W (1999) Alternative splicing of two leading exons partitions promoter activity between the coding regions of the maize homeobox gene Zmhox1a and Trap (transposon-associated protein). *Plant Molecular Biology* **41**, 615-625
- Coutos-Thevenot P, Jouenne T, Maes O, Guerbette F, Grosbois M, le Caer JP, Boulay B, Deloire A, Kader JC, Guern J (1993) Four 9-kDa proteins excreted by somatic embryos of grapevine are isoforms of lipid-transfer proteins. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 217, 885-889
- Crossley SJ, Greenland AJ, Dickinson HG (1995) The characterization of tapetum-specific cDNAs isolated from a *Lilium henryi* L. meiocyte subtractive cDNA library. *Planta* 196, 523-529
- Davies PJ (1995) Hormones in tissue culture and propagation. In: Davies PJ (Ed) *Plant Hormones*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 13-38
- de Oliveira Carvalho A, Gomes VM (2007) Role of plant lipid transfer proteins in plant cell Physiology, A concise review. *Peptides* 28, 1144-1153
- Devic M (1995) L'embryogenèse d'Arabidopsis. Biofutur 151, 32-37
- **Debouck DG** (1999) Diversity in *Phaseolus* species in relation to the common bean. In: Singh SP (Ed) *Common Bean Improvement in the Twenty-First Century*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 25-52
- Debouck DG, Smartt JJ (1995) Beans, *Phaseolus* spp. (Leguminosae-Papilionoidae). In: Smartt JJ, Simmonds NW (Eds) *Evolution of Crop Plants*, Longman Scientific and Technical, London, UK, pp 287-294
- Diatchenko L, Lau YFC, Campbell AP, Chenchik A, Moqadam F, Huang B, Lukyanov S, Lukyanov K, Gurskaya N, Sverdlov ED, Siebert PD (1996) Suppression subtractive hybridization: A method for generating differentially regulated or tissue-specific cDNA probes and libraries. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA Biochemistry* 93, 6025-6030
- Di Cristina M, Sessa G, Dolan L, Linstead P, Baima S, Ruberti I, Morelli G (1996) The *Arabidopsis* Athb-10 (GLABRA2) is an HD-Zip protein required for regulation of root hair development. *The Plant Journal* **10**, 393-402
- **Dong YH, Yao JL, Atkinson RG, Putterill JJ, Morris BA, Gardner RC** (2000) MDH1: an apple homeobox gene belonging to the BEL1 family. *Plant Molecular Biology* **42**, 623-633
- Elster R, Bommert P, Sheridan WF, Werr W (2000) Analysis of four embryospecific mutants in Zea mays reveals that incomplete radial organization of the proembryo interferes with subsequent development. Development, Genes and Evolution 210, 300-310
- Emery JF, Floyd SK, Alvarez J, Eshed Y, Hawker NP, Izhaki A, Baum SF, Bowman JL (2003). Radial Patterning of *Arabidopsis* Shoots by Class III HD-ZIP and KANADI Genes. *Current Biology* 13, 1768-1774
- Estruch JJ, Prinsen E, van Onckelen H, Schell J, Spena A (1991) Viviparous leaves produced by somatic activation of an inactive cytokinin-synthesizing gene. *Science* 254, 1364-1367
- Faure JD, Vittorioso P, Santoni V, Fraisier V, Prinsen E, Barlier I, van Onckelen H, Caboche M, Bellini C (1998) The PASTICCINO genes of Arabidopsis thaliana are involved in the control of cell division and cell differentiation. Development 12, 909-918
- Floyd SK, Zalewski CS, Bowman JL (2006) Evolution of Class III Homeodomain–Leucine Zipper Genes in Streptophytes. *Genetics* 173, 373-388
- Foster GD, Robinson SW, Blundell RP, Roberts MR, Hodge R, Draper J, Scott RJ (1992) A *Brassica-Napus* mRNA encoding a protein homologous to phospholipid transfer proteins is expressed specifically in the tapetum and developing microspores. *Plant Science* **84**, 187-192
- Franzmann LH, Yoon ES, Meinke DW (1995) Saturating the genetic map of Arabidopsis thaliana with embryonic mutations. The Plant Journal 7, 341-350
- Fu S, Meeley R, Scanlon MJ (2002) Empty pericarp2 encodes a negative regulator of the heat shock response and is required for maize embryogenesis. *Plant Cell* 14, 3119-3132
- García-Olmedo F, Molina A, Segura A, Moreno M (1995) The defensive role of nonspecific lipid-transfer proteins in plants. *Trends in Microbiology* 3, 72-74
- Geerts P (2001) Study of embryo development in *Phaseolus* in order to obtain interspecific hybrids. PhD Thesis, Gembloux Agricultural University, Faculté Universitaire des Sciences Agronomiques, Gembloux, Belgium, pp 183
- Gehring WJ (1992) The homeobox in perspective. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 17, 277-280
- Gehring WJ, Hiromi Y (1986) Homeotic genes and the homeobox. Annual Review of Genetics 20, 147-173
- Goldberg RB, de Pavia G, Yadegari R (1994) Plant embryogenesis: zygote to seed. *Science* 466, 605-614
- Graham PH, Ranalli P (1997) Common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). Field Crops Research 53,131-146

Groß-Hardt R, Laux T (2003) Stem cell regulation in the shoot meristem.

Journal of Cell Science 116, 1659-1666

- Györgyey J, Gartner A, Németh K, Magyar Z, Hirt H, Heberle-Bors E, Dudits D (1991) Alfalfa heat shock genes are differentially expressed during somatic embryogenesis. *Plant Molecular Biology* 16, 999-1007
- Haberer G, Erschadi S, Torres-Ruiz RA (2002) The Arabidopsis gene PE-PINO/PASTICCINO2 is required for proliferation control of meristematic and non-meristematic cells and encodes a putative anti-phosphatase. Development, Genes and Evolution 212, 542-550
- Haecker A, Groß-Hardt R, Geiges B, Sarkar A, Breuninger H, Herrmann M, Laux T (2004) Expression dynamics of WOX genes mark cell fate decisions during early embryonic patterning in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Development 131, 657-668
- Hake SC, Char BR, Chuck G, Foster T, Long J, Jackson D (1995) Homeobox genes in the functioning of plant meristems. *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences* 350, 45-51
- Hake SC, Smith HMS, Holtan H, Magnani E, Mele G, Ramirez J (2004) The role of KNOX genes in plant development. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology 20, 125-151
- Han GW, Lee JY, Song HK, Chang C, Min K, Moon J, Shin DH, Kopka ML, Sawaya MR, Yuan HS, Kim TD, Choe J, Lim D, Moon HJ, Suh SW (2001) Structural basis of non-specific lipid binding in maize lipid-transfer protein complexes revealed by high-resolution X-ray crystallography. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 308, 263-278
- Hanson PM, Pastor-Corrales MA, Kornegay JL (1993) Heritability and sources of Ascochyta Blight resistance in common bean. *Plant Disease* 77, 711-714
- Hanson J, Johannesson H, Engström P (2001) Sugar-dependent alterations in cotyledon and leaf development in transgenic plants expressing the HDZip gene ATHB13. *Plant Molecular Biology* 45, 247-262
- Harada JJ (1997) Seed maturation and control of germination. In: Larkins BA, Vasil IK (Eds) Cellular and Molecular Biology of Plant Seed Development, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 545-592
- Harada JJ (2001) Role of Arabidopsis Leafy Cotyledon genes in seed development. The Journal of Plant Physiology 158, 405-409
- Harrar Y, Bellec Y, Bellini C, Faure JD (2003) Hormonal control of cell proliferation requires PASTICCINO genes. *Plant Physiology* 132, 1217-1227
- Hay A, Craft J, Tsiantis M (2004) Plant hormones and homeoboxes: bridging the gap? *Bioessays* 26, 395-404
- Helm KW, Abernethy RH (1990) Heat shock proteins and their mRNAs in dry and early imbibing embryos of wheat. *Plant Physiology* **93**, 1626-1633
- Hendriks T, Meijer EA, Thoma S, Kader JC, de Vries SC (1994) The carrot extracellular lipid transfer protein EP2: Quantitative aspects with respect to its putative role in cutin synthesis. In: Coruzzi G, Puigdomènech P (Eds) NATO ASI Series Vol. 81, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 85-94
- Hjortswang HI, Filonova LH, Vahala T, von Arnold S (2002) Modified expression of the *Pa18* gene interferes with somatic embryo development in Norway spruce. *Plant Growth Regulation* 38, 75-82
- Hofer J, Gourlay C, Michael A, Ellis TH (2001) Expression of a class 1 knotted1-like homeobox gene is down-regulated in pea compound leaf primordia. *Plant Molecular Biology* **45**, 387-398
- Hollenbach B, Schreiber L, Hartung W, Dietz KJ (1997) Cadmium leads to stimulated expression of the lipid transfer protein genes in barley: implications for the involvement of lipid transfer proteins in wax assembly. *Planta* 203, 9-19
- **Howell SH** (1998) *Molecular Genetics of Plant Development* (1st Ed), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom, 384 pp
- Ingouff M, Farbos I, Wiweger M, von Arnold S (2003) The molecular characterization of *PaHB2*, a homeobox gene of the HD-GL2 family expressed during embryo development in Norway spruce. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 54, 1343-1350
- Ingram GC, Boisnard-Lorig C, Dumas C, Rogowsky PM (2000) Expression patterns of genes encoding HD-ZIP IV homeodomain proteins define specific domains in maize embryos and meristems. *The Plant Journal* 22, 401-414
- Ingram GC, Magnard JL, Vergne P, Dumas C, Rogowsky PM (1999) ZmOCL1, an HDGL2 family homeobox gene, is expressed in the outer cell layer throughout maize development. *Plant Molecular Biology* **40**, 343-354
- Ito M, Sato Y, Matsuoka M (2002a) Involvement of homeobox genes in early body plan of monocot. International Review of Cytology 218, 1-35
- Ito M, Sentoku N, Nishimura A, Hong S-K, Sato Y, Matsuoka M (2002b) Position dependent expression of GL2-type homeobox gene, Roc1: significance for protoderm differentiation and radial pattern formation in early rice embryogenesis. *The Plant Journal* 29, 497-507
- Ito Y, Chujo A, Eiguchi M, Kurata N (2004) Radial axis differentiation in a globular embryo is marked by HAZ1, a PHD-finger homeobox gene of rice. *Gene* 331, 9-15
- Jofuku KD, Goldberg RB (1989) Kunitz trypsin inhibitor genes are differentially expressed during the soybean life cycle and in transformed tobacco plants. *Plant Cell* 1, 1079-1094
- Johannesson H, Wang Y, Engström P (2001) DNA-binding and dimerization preferences of *Arabidopsis* homeodomain-leucine zipper transcription factors *in vitro*. *Plant Molecular Biology* **45**, 63-73
- Jung HW, Kim W, Hwang BK (2003) Three pathogen-inducible genes encoding lipid transfer protein from pepper are differentially activated by patho-

gens, abiotic, and environmental stresses. Plant, Cell and Environment 26, 915-928

- Jürgens G, Torres Ruiz RA, Berleth T (1994) Embryonic pattern formation in flowering plants. Annual Review of Genetics 28, 351-371
- Kader JC, Douady D, Mazliak P (1982) Phospholipid transfer proteins. In: Hawthorne JH, Ansell GB (Eds) *Phospholipids, a Comprehensive Treatise*, Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands, pp 279-311
- Kader JC (1996) Lipid transfer proteins in plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 47, 627-654
- Kader JC (1997) Lipid-transfer proteins: a puzzling family of plant proteins. Trends in Plant Science 2, 66-70
- Kader JC, Julienne M, Vergnolle C (1984) Purification and characterization of a spinach-leaf protein capable of transferring phospholipids from liposomes to mitochondria or chloroplasts. *The European Journal of Biochemis*try 139, 411-416
- Kagaya Y, Toyoshima R, Okuda R, Usui H, Yamamoto A, Hattori T (2005) LEAFY COTYLEDON1 controls seed storage protein genes through its regulation of FUSCA3 and ABSCISIC ACID INSENSITIVE3. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 46, 399-406
- Kamiya N, Nagasaki H, Morikami A, Sato Y, Matsuoka M (2003) Isolation and characterization of a rice WUSCHEL-type homeobox gene that is specifically expressed in the central cells of a quiescent center in the root apical meristem. *The Plant Journal* 35, 429-441
- Kanrar S, Onguka O, Smith HMS (2006) Arabidopsis inflorescence architecture requires the activities of KNOX-BELL homeodomain heterodimers. *Planta* 224, 1163-1173
- Kerstetter RA, Laudencia-Chingcuanco D, Smith LG, Hake S (1997) Lossof-function mutations in the maize homeobox gene, knotted1, are defective in shoot meristem maintenance. *Development* 124, 3045-3054
- Kieffer M, Stern Y, Cook H, Clerici E, Maulbetsch C, Laux T, Davies B (2006) Analysis of the transcription factor WUSCHEL and its functional homologue in *Antirrhinum* reveals a potential mechanism for their roles in meristem maintenance. *Plant Cell* 18, 560-573
- Kissinger CR, Liu B, Martin-Blanco E, Kornberg TB, Pabo CO (1990) Crystal structure of an engrailed homeodomain-DNA complex at 2.8 Å resolution: A framework for understanding homeodomain-DNA interactions. *Cell* 63, 579-590
- Klinge B, Überlacker B, Korfhage C, Werr W (1996) ZmHox: a novel class of maize homeobox genes. *Plant Molecular Biology* 30, 439-453
- Koltai H, Dhandaydham M, Opperman C, Thomas J, Bird D (2001) Overlapping plant signal transduction pathways induced by a parasitic nematode and a rhizobial endosymbiont. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 14, 1168-1177
- Korfhage U, Trezzini GF, Meier I, Hahlbrock K, Somssich IE (1994) Plant Homeodomain protein involved in transcriptional regulation of a pathogen defense-related gene. *Plant Cell* 6, 695-708
- Kwong RW, Bui AQ, Lee H, Kwong LW, Fischer RL, Goldberg RB, Harada JJ (2003) LEAFY COTYLEDON1-LIKE defines a class of regulators essential for embryo development. *Plant Cell* 15, 5-18
- LaFayette PR, Nagao RT, O'Grady K, Vierling E, Key JL (1996) Molecular characterization of cDNAs encoding low-molecular-weight heat shock proteins of soybean. *Plant Molecular Biology* 30, 159-169
- Laux T, Jürgens G (1997) Embryogenesis: a new start into life. Plant Cell 9, 989-1000
- Laux T, Mayer KFX, Berger J, Jurgens G (1996) The WUSCHEL gene is required for shoot and floral meristem integrity in *Arabidopsis*. *Development* 122, 87-96
- Lecomte B (1997) Etude du développement embryonnaire *in vivo* et *in vitro* dans le genre *Phaseolus* L. PhD thesis, Gembloux Agricultural University, Faculté Universitaire des Sciences Agronomiques de Gembloux, Gembloux, Belgium, 186 pp
- Lee H, Fischer RL, Goldberg RB, Harada JJ (2003) Arabidopsis LEAFY COTYLEDON1 represents a functionally specialized subunit of the CCAAT binding transcription factor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 100, 2152-2156
- Lenne C, Douce R (1994) A low molecular mass heat-shock proteins is localized to higher plant mitochondria. *Plant Physiology* 105, 1255-1261
- Lerche MH, Kragelund BB, Bech LM, Poulsen FM (1997) Barley lipid transfer protein complexed with palmitoyl CoA: The structure reveals a hydrophobic binding site that can expand to fit both large and small lipid-like ligands. *Structure* **5**, 291-306
- Lieb JD, Albrecht MR, Chuang PT, Meyer BJ (1998) MIX-1: an essential component of the *C. elegans* mitotic machinery executes X chromosome do-sage compensation. *Cell* **92**, 265-277
- Lincoln C, Long J, Yamaguchi J, Serikawa K, Hake S (1994) A knotted1-like homeobox gene in *Arabidopsis* is expressed in the vegetative meristem and dramatically alters leaf morphology when overexpressed in transgenic plants. *Plant Cell* 6, 1859-1876
- Lindquist S, Craig EA (1988) The heat-shock proteins. Annual Review of Genetics 22, 631-677
- Liu CM, Meinke DW (1998) The titan mutants of Arabidopsis are disrupted in mitosis and cell cycle control during seed development. The Plant Journal 16, 21-31

- Liu CM, McElver J, Tzafrir I, Joosen R, Wittich P, Patton D, van Lammeren AA, Meinke D (2002) Condensin and cohesin knockouts in *Arabidopsis* exhibit a *titan* seed phenotype. *The Plant Journal* **29**, 405-415
- Liu Z, Makaroff CA (2006) Arabidopsis separase AESP is essential for embryo development and the release of cohesin during meiosis. Plant Cell 18, 1213-1225
- Long JA, Moan EI, Medford JI, Barton MK (1996) A member of the KNOT-TED class of homeodomain proteins encoded by the STM gene of *Arabidop*sis. Nature 379, 66-69
- López CE, Acosta IF, Jara C, Pedraza F, Gaitán-Solís E, Gallego G, Beebe S, Tohme J (2003) Identifying resistance gene analogs associated with resistances to different pathogens in common bean. *Phytopathology* 93, 88-95
- Lotan T, Ohto M, Matsudaira Yee K, West MAL, Lo R, Kwong RW, Yamagishi K, Fischer RL, Goldberg RB, Harada JJ (1998) Arabidopsis Leafy Cotyledon1 is sufficient to induce embryo development in vegetative cells. *Cell* 93, 1195-1205
- Lu P, Porat R, Nadeau JA, O'Neill SD (1996) Identification of a meristem L1 layer-specific gene in *Arabidopsis* that is expressed during embryonic pattern formation and defines a new class of homeobox genes. *Plant Cell* 8, 2155-2168
- Lukowitz W, Nickle TC, Meinke DW, Last RL, Conklin PL, Somerville CR (2001) Arabidopsis cyt1 mutants are deficient in a mannose-1-phosphate guanylyltransferase and point to a requirement of N-linked glycosylation for cellulose biosynthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 98, 2262-2267
- Ma H, McMullen MD, Finer JJ (1994) Identification of a homeobox-containing gene with enhanced expression during soybean (*Glycine max* L.) somatic embryo development. *Plant Molecular Biology* 24, 465-473
- Marenda MS, Vilei EM, Poumarat F, Frey J, Berthelot X (2004) Validation of the suppressive subtractive hybridization method in *Mycoplasma agalactiae* species by the comparison of a field strain with the type strain PG2. *Veterinary Research* **35**, 199-212
- Markham PG, Bedford ID, Liu S, Pinner MS (1994) The transmission of geminiviruses by *Bemisia tabaci*. *Pesticide Science* 42, 123-128
- Matsuoka M, Ichikawa H, Saito A, Tada Y, Fujimura T, Kano-Murakami Y (1993) Expression of a rice homeobox gene causes altered morphology of transgenic plants. *Plant Cell* 5, 1039-1048
- McElver J, Patton D, Rumbaugh M, Liu CM, Yang LJ, Meinke D (2000) The TITAN5 gene of *Arabidopsis* encodes a protein related to the ADP ribosylation factor family of GTP binding proteins. *Plant Cell* **12**, 1379-1392
- McElver J, Tzafrir I, Aux G, Rogers R, Ashby C, Smith K, Thomas C, Schetter A, Zhou Q, Cushman MA, Tossberg J, Nickle T, Levin JZ, Law M, Meinke D, Patton D (2001) Insertional mutagenesis of genes required for seed development in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Genetics* 159, 1751-1763
- McGinnis W, Levine MS, Hafen E, Kuroiwa A, Gehring WJ (1984) A conserved DNA sequence in homoeotic genes of the *Drosophila* Antennapedia and bithorax complexes. *Nature* **308**, 428-433
- Meijer EA, de Vries SC, Sterk P, Gadella Jr. DWJ, Karel Wirtz KWA, Hendriks T (1993) Characterization of the non-specific lipid transfer protein EP2 from carrot (*Daucus carota L.*). *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* 123, 159-166
- Meinke DW (1992) A homeotic mutant of Arabidopsis thaliana with leafy cotyledons. Science 258, 1647-1650
- Meinke DW (1994) Seed development in Arabidopsis. In: Meyerowitz EM, Somerville CR, (Eds) Arabidopsis, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY, pp 253-295
- Meinke DW (1995) Molecular genetics of plant embryogenesis. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 46, 369-394
- Mendoza MS, Dubreucq B, Miquel M, Caboche M, Lepiniec L (2005) Leafy Cotyledon2 activation is sufficient to trigger the accumulation of oil and seed specific mRNAs in *Arabidopsis* leaves. *FEBS Letters* 579, 4666-4670
- Michaelis C, Ciosk R, Nasmyth K (1997) Cohesins: chromosomal proteins that prevent premature separation of sister chromatids. *Cell* 91, 35-45
- Modrusan Z, Reiser L, Feldmann KA, Fischer RL, Haughn GW (1994) Homeotic transformation of ovules into carpel-like structures in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell* **6**, 333-349
- Mok MC (1994) Cytokinins and plant development, an overview. In: Mok DWS, Mok MC (Eds) Cytokinins: Chemistry, Activity, and Function, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, pp 155-166
- Molina A, Segura A, García-Olmedo F (1993) Lipid transfer proteins (nsLTPs) from barley and maize leaves are potent inhibitors of bacterial and fungal plant pathogens. *FEBS Letters* **316**, 119-122
- Moon YH, Choi SB, Kim JI, Han TJ, Cho SH, Kim WT, Lee KW (1996) Isolation and characterization of a homeodomain-leucine Zipper gene, Gmh1, from soybean somatic embryo. *Molecules and Cells* **6**, 366-373
- Muller J, Wang Y, Franzen R, Santi L, Salamini F, Rohde W (2001) In vitro interactions between barley TALE homeodomain proteins suggest a role for protein-protein associations in the regulation of Knox gene function. The Plant Journal 27, 13-23

Nadeau JA, Zhang XS, Li J, O'Neill SD (1996) Ovule development: identification of stage specific and tissue-specific cDNAs. *Plant Cell* 8, 213-239

Nambara E, Hayama R, Tsuchiya Y, Nishimura M, Kawaide H, Kamiya Y, Naito S (2000) The role of *AB13* and *FUS3* loci in *Arabidopsis thaliana* on phase transition from late embryo development to germination. *Developmental Biology* **220**, 412-423

- Nishimura A, Tamaoki M, Sato Y, Matsuoka M (1999) The expression of tobacco *knotted1*-type class 1 homeobox genes correspond to regions predicted by the cytohistological zonation model. *The Plant Journal* **18**, 337-347
- Nishimura A, Tamaoki M, Sakamoto T, Matsuoka M (2000) Over-expression of tobacco knotted1-type class1 homeobox genes alters various leaf morphology. Plant and Cell Physiology 41, 583-590
- Noodén LD (1988) The phenomena of senescence and aging. In: Noodén LD, Leopold AC (Eds) *Senescence and Aging in Plants*, Academic Press, Inc., San Diego, CA, pp 1-50
- Palena CM, Chan RL, Gonzalez DH (1997) A novel type of dimerization motif, related to leucine zippers, is present in plant homeodomain protein. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1352, 203-212
- Pankhurst C, Blair MW, Broughton WJ (2004) Tilling the beans. Proceeding Phaseomics III. June 13-15, 2004 Geneva, Switzerland, p 28
- Pons JL, de Lamotte F, Gautier MF, Delsuc MA (2003) Refined solution structure of a liganded type 2 wheat nonspecific lipid transfer protein. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278, 14249-14256
- Postma-Haarsma AD, Verwoert IIGS, Stronk OP, Koster J, Lamers GEM, Hoge JHC, Meijer AMH (1999) Characterization of the KNOX class homeobox genes Oskn2 and Oskn3 identified in a collection of cDNA libraries covering the early stages of rice embryogenesis. *Plant Molecular Biology* 39, 257-271
- Poznanski J, Sodano P, Suh SW, Lee JY, Ptak M, Vovelle F (1999) Solution structure of a lipid transfer protein extracted from rice seeds comparison with homologous proteins. *The European Journal of Biochemistry* 259, 692-708
- Prigge MJ, Otsuga D, Alonso JM, Ecker JR, Drews GN, Clark SE (2005). Class III homeodomain-leucine zipper gene family members have overlapping, antagonistic, and distinct roles in Arabidopsis development. *Plant Cell* 17, 61-76
- Pyee J, Kolattukudy PE (1995) The gene for the major cuticular wax-associated protein and three homologous genes from broccoli (*Brassica oleracea*) and their expression patterns. *The Plant Journal* 7, 49-59
- Rademacher EH, Dolf Weijers (2007) Got root? Initiation of the embryonic root meristem. International Journal of Plant Developmental Biology 1, 122-126
- Raghavan V (1997) Molecular Embryology of Flowering Plants, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom, 712 pp
- Reiser L, Modrusan Z, Margossian L, Samach A, Ohad N, Haughn GW, Fischer RL (1995) The BELL1 gene encodes a homeodomain protein involved in pattern formation in the *Arabidopsis* ovule primordium. *Cell* 83, 735-742
- Reiser L, Sanchez-Baracaldo P, Hake S (2000) Knots in the family tree: Evolutionary relationships and functions of *knox* homeobox genes. *Plant Molecular Biology* 42, 151-166
- Robinson-Beers K, Pruitt RE, Gasser CS (1992) Ovule development in wildtype Arabidopsis and two female-sterile mutants. Plant Cell 4, 1237-1249
- Roeder AH, Ferrandiz C, Yanofsky MF (2003) The role of the REPLUM-LESS homeodomain protein in patterning the *Arabidopsis* fruit. *Current Biology* **13**, 1630-1635
- Rojo E, Gillmor CS, Kovaleva V, Somerville CR, Raikhel NV (2001) VACU-OLELESS1 is an essential gene required for vacuole formation and morphogenesis in Arabidopsis. Developmental Cell 1, 303-310
- Rueckert DG, Schmidt K (1990) Lipid transfer proteins. Chemistry and Physics of Lipids 56, 1-20
- Salcedo G, Sánchez-Monge R, Barber D, Díaz-Perales A (2007) Plant nonspecific lipid transfer proteins: An interface between plant defence and human allergy. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1771, 781-791
- Sato Y, Hong S, Tagiri A, Kitano H, Yamamoto N, Nagato Y, Matsuoka M (1996) A rice homeobox gene, OSH1, is expressed before organ differentiation in a specific region during early embryogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 93, 8117-8122
- Sato Y, Sentoku N, Nagato Y, Matsuoka M (1998) Isolation and characterization of a rice homeobox gene, OSH15. *Plant Molecular Biology* 38, 983-998
- Shen B, Sinkevicius KW, Selinger DA, Tarczynski MC (2006) The homeobox gene GLABRA2 affects seed oil content in Arabidopsis. Plant Molecular Biology 60, 377-387
- Schena M, Davis RW (1992) HD-Zip proteins: Members of an Arabidopsis homeodomain protein superfamily. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 89, 3894-3898
- Schindler U, Beckmann H, Cashmore AR (1993) HAT3.1, a novel Arabidopsis homeodomain protein containing a conserved cysteine-rich region. *The Plant Journal* **4**, 137-150
- Schmit V, Baudoin JP (1992) Screening for resistance to Ascochyta blight in populations of *P. coccineus* L. and *P. polyanthus* Greenman. *Field Crops Research* 30, 155-165
- Schmulling T (2002) New insights into the functions of cytokinins in plant development. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* 21, 40-49
- Schöffl F, Prandl R, Reindl A (1998) Regulation of the heat-shock response. Plant Physiology 117, 1135-1141
- Schwartz HF, Correa VF, Pineda PAD, Otaya MM, Katherman MJ (1981) Dry bean yield losses caused by Ascochyta angular and white leaf spots in

Colombia. Plant Disease 65, 383-385

- Sentoku N, Tamaoki M, Nishimura A, Matsuoka M (1998) The homeobox gene NTH23 of tobacco is expressed in the basal region of leaf primordia. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1399, 203-208
- Sentoku N, Sato Y, Kurata N, Ito Y, Kitano H, Matsuoka M (1999) Regional expression of the rice KN1-type homeobox gene family during embryo, shoot, and flower development. *Plant Cell* 11, 1651-1663
- Serikawa KA, Martinez-Laborda A, Zambryski PC (1996) Three knotted1like homeobox genes in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Molecular Biology* **32**, 673-683
- Serikawa KA, Martinez-Laborda A, Kim H-S, Zambryski PC (1997) Localization of expression of KNAT3, a class 2 knotted1-like gene. *The Plant Journal* 11, 853-861
- Singh SP (1999) Integrated genetic improvement. In: Singh SP (Ed) Common Bean Improvement in the Twenty-First Century, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 133-165
- Smith HMS, Hake S (2003) The interaction of two homeobox genes, BREVI-PEDICELLUS and PENNYWISE, regulates internode patterning in the Arabidopsis inflorescence. Plant Cell 15, 1717-1727
- Smith HMS, Campbell BC, Hake S (2004) Competence to respond to floral inductive signals requires the homeobox genes PENNYWISE and POUND-FOOLISH. Current Biology 14, 812-817
- Smolenaars MMW, Madsen O, Rodenburg KW, Van der Horst DJ (2007) Molecular diversity and evolution of the large lipid transfer protein superfamily. *Journal of Lipid Research* 48, 489-502
- Sodano P, Caille A, Sy D, de Person G, Marion D, Ptak M (1997) 1H NMR and fluorescence studies of the complexation of DMPG by wheat nonspecific lipid transfer protein. Global fold of the complex. *FEBS Letters* **416**, 130-134
- Söderman E, Hjellström M, Fahleson J, Engström P (1999) The HD-Zip gene ATHB6 in Arabidopsis is expressed in developing leaves, roots and carpels and up-regulated by water deficit conditions. Plant Molecular Biology 40, 1073-1083
- Sossountzov L, Ruiz-Avila L, Vignols F, Jolliot A, Arondel V, Tchang F, Grosbois M, Guerbette F, Miginiac E, Delseny M, Puigdomenèch P, Kader JC (1991) Spatial and temporal expression of a maize Lipid Transfer Protein gene. *Plant Cell* 3, 923-933
- Soufleri IA, Vergnolle C, Miginiac E, Kader JC (1996) Germination-specific lipid transfer protein cDNAs in *Brassica napus* L. *Planta* 199, 229-237
- Steeves TA, Sussex IM (1989) The structure of the shoot apex. In: Steeves TA, Sussex IM (Eds) Patterns in Plant Development, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp 46-61
- Sterk P, Booij H, Schellekens GA, Van Kammen A, de Vries SC (1991) Cellspecific expression of the carrot EP2 lipid transfer protein gene. *Plant Cell* 3, 907-921
- Sundas-Larsson A, Svenson M, Liao H, Engström P (1998) A homeobox gene with potential developmental control function in the meristem of the conifer *Picea abies*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 25, 15118-15122
- Takumi S, Kosugi T, Murai K, Mori N, Nakamura C (2000) Molecular cloning of three homoeologous cDNAs encoding orthologs of the maize KNOT-TED1 homeobox protein from young spikes of hexaploid wheat. *Gene* 249, 171-181
- Tang Z, Sadka A, Morishige DT, Mullet JE (2001) Homeodomain leucine zipper proteins bind to the phosphate response domain of the soybean VspB tripartite promoter. *Plant Physiology* 125, 797-809
- Tan QKG, Irish VF (2006) The Arabidopsis zinc finger-homeodomain genes encode proteins with unique biochemical properties that are coordinately expressed during floral development. *Plant Physiology* 140, 1095-1108
- Thoma SL, Hecht U, Kippers A, Botella J, de Vries S, Sommerville C (1994) Tissue-specific expression of a gene encoding a cell wall-localized lipid transfer protein from *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiology* **105**, 35-45
- Thoma SL, Kaneko Y, Somerville C (1993) An Arabidopsis lipid transfert protein in the cell wall. *The Plant Journal* **3**, 427-437
- Tornero P, Conejero V, Vera P (1996) Phloem-specific expression of a plant homeobox gene during secondary phases of vascular development. *The Plant Journal* 9, 639-648
- Toussaint A, Geerts P, Clement F, Mergeai G, Baudoin JP (2004) Early abortion in reciprocal crosses between *Phaseolus vulgaris* and *Phaseolus polyan*thus, and in vitro culture of immature embryos from these species. *Belgian Journal of Botany* 137, 47-54
- **Tranbarger TJ, Misra S** (1995) The molecular characterization of a set of cDNAs differentially expressed during Douglas-fir germination and early seedling development. *Physiologia Plantarum* **95**, 456-464
- Tsiantis M, Hay A (2003) Comparative plant development: the time of the leaf? *Nature Reviews Genetics* **4**, 169-180
- Tsuboi S, Osafune T, Tsugeki R, Nishimura M, Yamada M (1992) Nonspecific Lipid Transfer Protein in castor bean cotyledon cells: subcellular localization and a possible role in lipid metabolism. *Journal of Biochemistry* 111, 500-508
- Tzafrir I, McElver JA, Liu C-M, Yang L-J, Wu J-Q, Martinez A, Patton DA, Meinke DW (2002) Diversity of TITAN functions in *Arabidopsis* seed development. *Plant Physiology* 128, 38-51
- Tzafrir I, Pena-Muralla R, Dickerman A, Berg M, Rogers R, Hutchens S, Sweeney TC, McElver J, Aux G, Patton D, Meinke D (2004) Identification

of genes required for embryo development in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* **135**, 1206-1220

- Überlacker B, Klinge B, Werr W (1996) Ectopic expression of the maize homeobox genes ZmHOXIa or ZmHoxIb causes pleiotropic alterations in the vegetative and floral development of transgenic tobacco. *Plant Cell* 8, 349-362
- Umehara M, Ikeda M, Kamada H (2007) Endogenous factors that regulate plant embryogenesis: Recent advances. *Japanese Journal of Plant Science* 1, 1-6
- Vierling E (1991) The roles of heat shock proteins in plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 42, 579-620
- Vignols F, Wigger M, García-Garrido JM, Grellet F, Kader JC, Delseny M (1997) Rice lipid transfer protein (LTP) genes belong to a complex multigene family and are differentially regulated. *Gene* **195**, 177-186
- Vittorioso P, Cowling R, Faure JD, Caboche M, Bellini C (1998) Mutation in the Arabidopsis PASTICCINO gene, which encodes a new FK506-binding protein-like protein, has a dramatic effect on plant development. Molecular and Cell Biology 18, 3034-3043
- Vollbrecht E, Veit B, Sinha N, Hake S (1991) The developmental gene Knotted-1 is a member of a maize homeobox gene familly. *Nature* **350**, 241-243
- Vollbrecht E, Reiser L, Hake S (2000) Shoot meristem size is dependent on inbred background and presence of the maize homeobox gene, knotted1. *Development* 127, 3161-3172
- Vroemen CW, Langeveld S, Mayer U, Ripper G, Jürgens G, van Kammen A, de Vries S (1996) Pattern formation in the *Arabidopsis* embryo revealed by position-specific Lipid Transfer Protein gene expression. *Plant Cell* 8, 783-791
- Wang H, Guo J, Lambert KN, Lin Y (2007) Developmental control of Arabidopsis seed oil biosynthesis. Planta 226, 773-78
- Waters ER, Lee GJ, Vierling E (1996) Evolution, structure and function of the small heat shock proteins in plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 47, 325-338
- Watillon B, Kettmann R, Boxus P, Burny A (1997) Knotted1-like homeobox genes are expressed during apple tree (*Malus domestica* [L.] Borkh) growth and development. *Plant Molecular Biology* 33, 757-763

- Wehmeyer N, Hernandez L, Finkelstein R, Vierling E (1996) Synthesis of small heat-shock proteins is part of the developmental program of late seed maturation. *Plant Physiology* 112, 757-757
- Weijers D, Jurgens G (2005) Auxin and embryo axis formation: the ends in sight? *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **8**, 32-37
- West MAL, Harada JJ (1993) Embryogenesis in higher plants: an overview. Plant Cell 5, 1361-1369
- West MAL, Yee KM, Danao J, Zimmerman JL, Fischer RL, Goldberg RB, Harada JJ (1994) Leafy cotyledon1 is an essential regulator of late embryogenesis and cotyledon identity in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 6, 1731-1745
- Western TL, Haughn GW (1999) BELL1 and AGAMOUS genes promote ovule identity in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *The Plant Journal* **18**, 329-336
- Wirtz KWA (1991) Phospholipid transfer proteins. Annual Review of Biochemistry 60, 73-99
- Wu JQ (1999) Mutant analysis of endosperm development in Arabidopsis. MSc Dissertation, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK, USA, 105 pp
- Wu G, Robertson AJ, Liu X, Zheng P, Wilen RW, Nesbitt NT, Gusta LV (2004) A lipid transfer protein gene BG-14 is differentially regulated by abiotic stress, ABA, anisomycin, and sphingosine in bromegrass (Bromus inermis). Journal of Plant Physiology 161, 449-458
- Yadegari R, de Paiva GR, Laux T, Koltunow AM, Apunya N, Zimmerman JL, Fischer RL, Harada JJ, Goldberg RB (1994) Cell differentiation and morphogenesis are uncoupled in *Arabidopsis raspberry* embryos. *Plant Cell* 6, 1713-1729
- Yang JY, Chung MC, Tu CY, Leu WM (2002) OSTF1: A HD-GL2 family homeobox gene is developmentally regulated during early embryogenesis in rice. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 43, 628-638
- Yang X, Makaroff CA, Ma H (2003) The Arabidopsis MALE MEIOCYTE DEATH1 gene encodes a PHD-finger protein that is required for male meiosis. Plant Cell 15, 1281-1295
- Zarsky V, Garrido D, Eller N, Tupy J, Vicente O, Schöffl F, Heberle-Bors E (1995) The expression of a small heat shock gene is activated during induction of tobacco pollen embryogenesis by starvation. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 18, 139-147